Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: June 19, 2021 ACCEPTED: August 10, 2021 PUBLISHED: September 6, 2021

Notes on flat-space limit of AdS/CFT

Yue-Zhou Li

Department of Physics, McGill University, 3600 Rue University, Montréal, H3A 2T8, QC Canada

E-mail: liyuezhou@physics.mcgill.ca

ABSTRACT: Different frameworks exist to describe the flat-space limit of AdS/CFT, include momentum space, Mellin space, coordinate space, and partial-wave expansion. We explain the origin of momentum space as the smearing kernel in Poincare AdS, while the origin of latter three is the smearing kernel in global AdS. In Mellin space, we find a Mellin formula that unifies massless and massive flat-space limit, which can be transformed to coordinate space and partial-wave expansion. Furthermore, we also manage to transform momentum space to smearing kernel in global AdS, connecting all existed frameworks. Finally, we go beyond scalar and verify that $\langle VVO \rangle$ maps to photon-photon-massive amplitudes.

KEYWORDS: AdS-CFT Correspondence, Conformal Field Theory

ARXIV EPRINT: 2106.04606



Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Quantization and scattering smearing kernel	3
	2.1 Global quantization and the flat-space limit	3
	2.2 Poincare quantization and the momentum space	8
	2.3 $\text{HKLL} + \text{LSZ} = \text{scattering smearing kernel}$	11
3	The flat-space limit from global smearing	14
	3.1 Known frameworks of the flat-space limit	14
	3.2 Mellin space and saddle-points	16
	3.3 Conformal frame subject to saddle-points	22
	3.4 From Mellin space to coordinate space	25
	3.4.1 All massless particles: bulk-point singularity	25
	3.4.2 Include massive particles	26
	3.5 From coordinate space to partial-waves	27
	3.5.1 Massless phase-shift	28
	3.5.2 Massive phase-shift	29
4	Momentum-coordinate duality	31
5	Fun with spinning flat-space limit	34
6	Conclusion	37
\mathbf{A}	. Momentum space for Euclidean CFT	38
в	Normalizing scattering smearing kernel	39
	B.1 Global smearing	39
	B.2 Poincare smearing	40
С	Derivation of formulas in Mellin space	40
	C.1 Limit of Mellin representation and massive formula	41
	C.2 Derivation of massless formula	43
D	n = 4 contact Witten diagram	46
\mathbf{E}	Conformal blocks with large Δ and $\Delta_{1,2}$	47
	E.1 From Casimir equation	47
	E.2 Explicit check in $d = 2, 4$	49

1 Introduction

Including negative cosmological constant, gravity theory coupled to other local fields can be formulated as weakly coupled quantum field theory (QFT) by perturbatively expanding the curvatures around the Anti-de Sitter (AdS) background. Although the resulting QFT lives on AdS, we are still able to apply the standard techniques, which utilize the propagators in AdS to calculate the "AdS amplitudes" for local quantum fields. As interpreted by the AdS/CFT correspondence, these AdS amplitudes are corresponding to correlation functions of large-N expanded conformal field theory (CFT) on the AdS boundary [1–3].

Naively, at the level of effective Lagrangian, we can take the large AdS radius limit $\ell \to \infty$, QFTs on AdS then make no difference from flat-space. We can also easily observe the limit $\ell \to \infty$ reduces AdS background to a flat-space. It is, however, rather nontrivial to incorporate the AdS amplitudes into this flat-space limit, where we expect that AdS amplitudes degrade and give rise to S-matrix or scattering amplitudes of QFT in flat-space. Employing AdS/CFT, the flat-space limit of AdS then suggests that boundary CFT correlation function shall encode the flat-space S-matrix.¹

The idea on the flat-space limit of AdS/CFT enjoys a long history [5–11], and more quantitative and precise maps were established in the recent decade [12-18]. However, in the literature, there exist several frameworks which work in different representations of CFT: momentum space [18], Mellin space [13, 14, 17], coordinate space [12, 15, 16], and partial-wave expansion (conformal block expansion) [15, 17], as summarised in figure 1. The latter three representations are natural to consider conformal bootstrap [19], so our focus will be mostly on the latter three frameworks, for which the formulas describing massless scattering and massive scattering (defined for external legs) are sharply different. The massless particles are described by operators with finite conformal dimension, while massive particles are described by operators with infinite conformal dimension $\Delta \sim \ell \rightarrow \infty$ ². The details shall be reviewed in subsection 3.1 and here we simply provide a chronological history: the massless formula in coordinate space for four-point case was first proposed in [12] and was reformulated by the proposal of Mellin space [13], which is later known as the bulk-point limit [15], and a contact example of the partial-wave coefficients was provided in [15]; the massive Mellin space formula and the phase-shift formula (which is basically the coefficient of the partial-wave) was later proposed in [17], and the massive formula in the coordinate space was recently conjectured in [16].

Two natural questions that we aim to answer in this paper are:

- What is the origin of these seemingly different frameworks of the flat-space limit?
- Why do the formulas describing massless scattering and massive scattering look different and how do we unify them?

¹It is worth noting that the flat-space limit of AdS/CFT is different from flat holography proposal, e.g., [4]. In the flat-space limit of AdS/CFT, we expect CFT encodes one higher dimensional S-matrix, but the S-matrix can not fully encode CFT. While by flat holography, flat-space physics and CFT should be able to be transformed back and forth between each other.

 $^{^{2}}$ For the framework in momentum space, as far as we know, only the massless formula was proposed [18].



Figure 1. The existed frameworks describing the flat-space limit of AdS/CFT, where the question mark denotes the undiscovered relation.

Considering the Mellin space, coordinate space and partial-wave expansion can be translated to each other, we expect they share the same origin. The origin follows the spirit of the HKLL formula [20, 21], which represents the flat-space S-matrix in terms of boundary correlation function via smearing over the boundary against a scattering smearing kernel. Such scattering smearing kernel for massless scattering was constructed in [11] and was applied to rigorously derive the massless Mellin formula later [14]. A scattering smearing kernel that is generally valid for both massless and massive cases was proposed in [22], which slightly overlaps with this paper. We find, crucially, only the scattering smearing kernel constructed from global AdS can be served as the origin of the flat-space limit in Mellin space, coordinate space, and partial-wave expansion; on the other hand, when we construct the scattering smearing kernel from Poincare AdS, we find it simply performs the Fourier-transform and thus gives rise to the framework of flat-space limit in momentum space. According to subregion duality [23-25] which states subregion of CFT is encoded in the corresponding subregion of AdS (usually the causal wedge [23] or more generally entanglement wedge [26], we expect that the Poincare scattering smearing kernel can be transformed to the global smearing kernel, simply because the Poincare patch is a part of the global AdS. We indeed find that the global scattering can be obtained from Poincare scattering, which also suggests a momentum-coordinate duality for CFT at large momentum and conformal dimensions.

Notably, scattering smearing kernels never treat massless and massive scattering distinguishingly, we should be able to unify the massless flat-space limit and massive flat-space limit. In this paper, we find a Mellin formula applying to all masses, which can be easily translated to other frameworks for both massless and massive cases. Typically, in terms of CFT language, the massive scattering is more like a "limit" of massless one, because nonzero masses provide additional large parameters $\Delta \sim \ell \rightarrow \infty$ that further dominate the scattering smearing kernel.

The outline of our finding is illustrated in figure 2. This paper is organized as follows. In section 2, we take the flat-space limit for bulk reconstruction in both global AdS and Poincare AdS to construct scattering smearing kernels that represent flat-space S-matrix in terms of CFT correlator. The Poincare scattering smearing kernel automatically Fouriertransforms the CFT correlator and gives rise to flat-space limit in momentum space. In section 3, we review the existed flat-space limit, include Mellin space, coordinate space,



Figure 2. Massless and massive unified frameworks of the flat-space limit, where the origins are clarified.

and partial-wave expansion. We start with the global scattering smearing kernel and find saddle-points that dominate the smearing integral. Using the saddle-points, we find a Mellin formula that applies to both massless scattering and massive scattering. We then show this Mellin formula gives rise to the flat-space limit in coordinate space, and then to the partial-wave/phase-shift formula. In section 4, use the notion of subregion duality, we propose a momentum-coordinate duality, which relates the flat-space limit in momentum space to global scattering smearing kernel. In section 5, we propose a flat-space parameterization of embedding coordinate for spinning operators. We apply our proposal to $\langle VV\mathcal{O} \rangle$ three-point function where V is conserved current, we verify the momentumcoordinate duality as well as a map to flat-space amplitude.

In appendix A, we analytically continue the flat-space limit in momentum space to Euclidean CFT, which effectively turns AdS into dS. In appendix B, we show how to fix the normalization of scattering smearing kernel. In appendix C, we provide more details on derivation of Mellin flat-space limit. In appendix D, we compute four-point scalar contact Witten diagram (no derivative) and verify it is equivalent to momentum conservation delta function in the flat-space limit. In appendix E, we introduce a new conformal frame, which helps us solve the conformal block at limit $\Delta, \Delta_i \to \infty$. We double-check our conformal block by working explicitly in d = 2, 4.

2 Quantization and scattering smearing kernel

2.1 Global quantization and the flat-space limit

We first consider global Euclidean AdS coordinate

$$ds^{2} = \frac{\ell^{2}}{\cos \rho^{2}} \left(d\tau^{2} + d\rho^{2} + \sin \rho^{2} d\Omega_{d-1}^{2} \right) , \qquad (2.1)$$

where its boundary is located at $\rho = \pi/2$. The advantage of global AdS is that it provides a $R \times S_{d-1}$ background for boundary CFT, i.e.,

$$ds_{\rm CFT}^2 = d\tau^2 + d\Omega_{d-1}^2, \qquad (2.2)$$



Figure 3. Cylinder diagram of global AdS.

which is natural for radial quantization in CFT. This global coordinate is depicted in figure 3. Moreover, to make contact with flat Minkowski space where physical scattering processes happen, we may start with Lorentzian AdS. To do this, we simply wick rotate τ

$$ds^{2} = \frac{\ell^{2}}{\cos\rho^{2}} \left(-d\tau^{2} + d\rho^{2} + \sin\rho^{2} d\Omega_{d-1}^{2} \right) , \qquad (2.3)$$

for which the AdS and CFT embedding coordinate X and P are parameterized by

$$X = \frac{\ell}{\cos\rho} \left(\cos\tau, -i\sin\tau, \sin\rho\,\hat{r}\right), \quad P = \left(\cos\tau, -i\sin\tau, \hat{r}\right), \quad (2.4)$$

respectively.

Let us consider a free scalar with mass m in global AdS, which can be quantized by [10]

$$\phi = \sum_{n,J,m_i} e^{iE_{nJ}\tau} R_{n,J}(\rho) Y_{Jm_i}(\hat{\rho}) a_{nJm_i} + \text{c.c},$$

$$R_{n,J}(\rho) = \frac{1}{N_{\Delta J}} \sin^J \rho \cos^\Delta \rho \,_2 F_1\left(-n, \Delta + J + n, J + \frac{d}{2}, \sin \rho^2\right), \qquad (2.5)$$

where the energy eigenvalues are discretized as $E_{nJ} = \Delta + J + 2n$, and

$$m^2 \ell^2 = \Delta(\Delta - d) \,. \tag{2.6}$$

This spectra correspond to a primary operator \mathcal{O} and all its descendent family $\partial^{2n}\partial_{\mu_1}\cdots\partial_{\mu_J}\mathcal{O}$. The normalization factor $N_{\Delta J}$ can be found by usual quantization procedure

$$[\phi(\vec{x},\tau),\pi(\vec{y},\tau)] = i \frac{\delta(\vec{x}-\vec{y})}{\sqrt{-g}}, \quad [a_{nJm_i},a^{\dagger}_{n'J'm'_i}] = \delta_{nn'}\delta_{JJ'}\delta_{m_im'_i}, \quad (2.7)$$

which yields [10]

$$N_{\Delta J} = \sqrt{\frac{n!\Gamma\left(J + \frac{d}{2}\right)^2 \Gamma\left(\Delta + n - \frac{d-2}{2}\right)\ell^{d-1}}{\Gamma\left(n + J + \frac{d}{2}\right)\Gamma(\Delta + n + J)}}.$$
(2.8)

Since we are starting with global AdS, we may call this quantization "global quantization".

Now with this preliminary of global quantization, we can move to discuss the flatspace limit. At first, we shall discuss how to take the flat-space limit for coordinates. Our notation of flat-space is

$$ds^{2} = -dt^{2} + dr^{2} + r^{2}d\Omega_{d-1}^{2}.$$
(2.9)

We can see now taking the flat-space limit for coordinates is quite trivial, we can take the coordinate transformation

$$\ell \tan \rho = r \,, \quad \tau \ell = t \,, \tag{2.10}$$

and then send $\ell \to \infty$. It immediately follows that to make the Fourier factor $e^{iE\tau}$ in (2.5) valid with flat-space limit, the energy must scale as ℓ , i.e., $E = \omega \ell$, where we denote ω as the energy in flat-space. This fact also indicates that $n \sim \ell$ for massless particles, more specifically we have $\omega = 2n/\ell$. Note also in the context of AdS/CFT, we should be aware of $m \sim \Delta/\ell$. Thus any primary scalar operators with finite conformal dimensions Δ corresponds to massless particles in the flat-space limit [12], and it is necessary to consider scalar operators with large conformal dimensions scaling linear in ℓ to probe massive particles in flat-space [17].

Before we discuss the flat-space limit of quantization, we shall briefly review the quantization of scalar fields in flat-space in spherical coordinates. To avoid confusion, we denote φ as scalars in flat-space. We have

$$\varphi = \sum_{J,m_i} \int d\omega (a_{\omega Jm_i} e^{i\omega t} R_{|\vec{p}|,J}(r) Y_{Jm_i}(\hat{r}) + \text{c.c}), \qquad (2.11)$$

where Y_{Jm_i} is the spherical harmonics on S^{d-1} (in which m_i denotes all "magnetic" angular momenta), and the radial function $R_{|\vec{p}|,J}(r)$ is given by

$$R_{|\vec{p}|,J}(r) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} r^{\frac{2-d}{2}} J_{\frac{d-2}{2}+J}(|\vec{p}|r) \,. \tag{2.12}$$

The quantization condition is also straightforward

$$\left[\varphi(\vec{x},t),\pi_{\varphi}(\vec{y},t)\right] = i\frac{\delta(\vec{x}-\vec{y})}{\sqrt{-g}}, \quad \left[a_{\omega Jm_i},a^{\dagger}_{\omega'J'm'_i}\right] = \delta(\omega-\omega')\delta_{JJ'}\delta_{m_im'_i}.$$
(2.13)

Now we can easily take the flat-space limit for radial function and we can observe that

$$R_{n,J}(\rho)\big|_{\ell \to \infty} = \sqrt{\frac{2}{\ell}} R_{|\vec{p}|,J}(r) \,. \tag{2.14}$$

It is also not hard to probe the flat-space limit for creation and annihilation operators by comparing the canonical quantization condition for those operators, i.e.,

$$\begin{aligned} [a_{njm_i}, a_{n'j'm_i'}^{\dagger}]|_{\ell \to \infty} &= \delta \left(n - n' \right) \delta_{JJ'} \delta_{m_i m_i'} = \delta \left(\frac{(\omega - \omega')\ell}{2} \right) \delta_{JJ'} \delta_{m_i m_i'} \\ &= \frac{2}{\ell} \delta \left(\omega - \omega' \right) \delta_{JJ'} \delta_{m_i m_i'} = \frac{2}{\ell} \left[a_{\omega Jm_i}, a_{\omega'J'm_i'}^{\dagger} \right]. \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.15)$$

It thus immediately follows

$$a_{njm_i}\big|_{\ell \to \infty} = \sqrt{\frac{2}{\ell}} e^{i\eta} a_{\omega Jm_i} \,, \tag{2.16}$$

with an arbitrary phase factor η that is to be fixed by convenience later. Trivially, the Fourier factor is simply $e^{iE\tau} = e^{i\omega t}$, and the flat-space limit of measure in summation over all energy spectra is also consistent

$$\sum_{n} \to \int d\omega \frac{\ell}{2} \,. \tag{2.17}$$

By including above factors, we are led to

$$\phi\big|_{\ell \to \infty} \simeq \varphi \,.$$
 (2.18)

In other words, the flat-limit of the quantized scalars in global AdS is equivalent to the quantized scalars in flat-space.

Using the quantization in global AdS, the corresponding primary operator \mathcal{O} that is dual to ϕ can be quantized via

$$\mathcal{O} = \sum_{n,j,m_i} \left(e^{iE_{nj}\tau} Y_{jm_i}(\hat{\rho}) a_{njm} + \text{c.c} \right) N_{\Delta,n,j}^{\mathcal{O}} \,, \tag{2.19}$$

where the normalization can be fixed by normalizing the two-point function [10]

$$N_{\Delta,n,j}^{\mathcal{O}} = \sqrt{\frac{\Gamma\left(1+\Delta-\frac{d}{2}+n\right)\Gamma\left(\Delta+J+n\right)}{\Gamma\left(1+n\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}+J+n\right)}}\frac{1}{\Gamma\left(1+\Delta-\frac{d}{2}\right)}.$$
(2.20)

It then follows that we can represent creation operator by \mathcal{O} via

$$a_{njm_{i}}^{\dagger} = \int_{-\frac{\pi}{2}-\tau_{0}}^{\frac{\pi}{2}-\tau_{0}} \frac{d\tau}{\pi} d\Omega_{d-1} e^{iE_{nj}\tau} \frac{Y_{jm_{i}}(\hat{\rho})}{N_{\Delta,n,j}^{\mathcal{O}}} \mathcal{O}(\tau,\hat{\rho}) , \qquad (2.21)$$

where τ_0 is the (finite) reference time which can be chosen for convenience and doesn't affect the integral. This reflects the τ translation symmetry. Take the flat-space limit on both sides of above formula, we obtain

$$a_{\omega J m_{i}}^{\dagger} = \int_{-\frac{\pi}{2}\ell-\tau_{0}}^{\frac{\pi}{2}\ell-\tau_{0}} \frac{dt d\Omega_{d-1}}{\sqrt{2\pi^{2}\ell}} e^{i\omega t} Y_{jm_{i}}\left(\hat{\rho}\right) 2^{\Delta-\frac{d}{2}} \left(|\vec{p}|\ell\right)^{\frac{d}{2}-\Delta} \xi_{\omega\Delta} \Gamma\left(1+\Delta-\frac{d}{2}\right) \times e^{-i\eta} \mathcal{O}\left(\tau,\hat{\rho}\right),$$

$$(2.22)$$

where we define

$$\xi_{\omega\Delta} = \left(\frac{\omega\ell - \Delta}{\omega\ell + \Delta}\right)^{\frac{\omega\ell}{2}} e^{\Delta} = \exp\left[\frac{\omega\ell}{2}\log\left(\frac{\omega\ell - \Delta}{\omega\ell + \Delta}\right) + \Delta\right], \qquad (2.23)$$

which, as an exponent factor, is well-defined for both massive and massless cases. We can readily verify that $\xi_{\omega\Delta}$ is simply 1 at $\ell \to \infty$ limit for massless particles.

Using this formula, we can construct the smearing kernel $K_a(t, \hat{r})$ that represents scattering states $|p\rangle$ in terms of primary operator in CFT [11]

$$|p\rangle = \int dt d\Omega_{d-1} K_a(t,\hat{r}) \mathcal{O}(\tau,\hat{r}) |0\rangle , \qquad (2.24)$$

To find the smearing kernel, we can decompose the momentum eigenstate $|p\rangle$ into angular momentum eigenstate

$$|p\rangle = \sum_{J,m_i} \langle J, m_i | p \rangle | J, m_i \rangle , \quad \langle J, m_i | p \rangle = i^J 2^{\frac{d+1}{2}} \pi^{\frac{d}{2}} |\vec{p}|^{\frac{2-d}{2}} Y_{Jm_i}(\hat{p}) , \qquad (2.25)$$

from which we can derive the smearing kernel

$$K_{a}(t,\hat{r}) = e^{i\omega t} \sum_{Jm_{i}} \ell^{\frac{d-1}{2} - \Delta} \xi_{\omega,\Delta} |\vec{p}|^{1-\Delta} \times 2^{\Delta} \pi^{\frac{d-2}{2}} Y_{Jm_{i}}(\hat{r}) Y_{Jm_{i}}(\hat{p}) \Gamma\left(1 + \Delta - \frac{d}{2}\right)$$

$$= e^{i\omega t} \ell^{\frac{d-1}{2} - \Delta} \xi_{\omega,\Delta} |\vec{p}|^{1-\Delta} \times 2^{\Delta} \pi^{\frac{d-2}{2}} \Gamma\left(1 + \Delta - \frac{d}{2}\right) \delta\left(\hat{p} - \hat{r}\right) , \qquad (2.26)$$

in which we choose $\eta = -J\pi/2$ to cancel the funny i^J factor. Note this smearing kernel is obtained for a free scalar theory. Nevertheless, we assume it also works whenever the plane-wave state is asymptotically free, which is exactly the scattering states defined at infinite past or future. We can then apply this smearing kernel to establish a formula relating flat-space (*n*-particle) S-matrix to CFT *n*-point function (or AdS amplitudes)

$$S = {}_{+\infty} \langle p_1 p_2 \cdots p_k | p_{k+1} \cdots p_n \rangle_{-\infty} = \mathbb{I} + i \delta^{(d+1)} \left(p_{\text{tot}} \right) T \left(p_i \right)$$
$$= \lim_{\ell \to \infty} \int \left(\prod_i dt_i e^{i\omega_i t_i} \ell^{\frac{d-1}{2} - \Delta_i} \xi_{\omega_i \Delta_i} | \vec{p}_i |^{1 - \Delta} 2^{\Delta_i} \pi^{\frac{d-2}{2}} \Gamma \left(1 + \Delta_i - \frac{d}{2} \right) \right) \langle \mathcal{O}_1 \cdots \mathcal{O}_n \rangle, \quad (2.27)$$

where I denotes the disconnected part of S-matrix and T the scattering amplitudes, and in the second line we analytically continue the momenta such that all momenta are in-states before employing the smearing kernel (2.26). The interpretation of eq. (2.27) shall be briefly discussed before we move on. A pure CFT does know nothing about ℓ without the notion of AdS/CFT. One job that AdS/CFT (with large ℓ limit of AdS) does is to provide a specific kernel K_s in eq. (2.27). Then we can study a particular CFT correlator in a single CFT and notice that the smeared version (smear over τ) of the CFT correlator with a large ℓ limit of the kernel will approximate the flat-space S-matrix, where Δ/ℓ estimates the masses. However, from the dynamics, to define a flat-space QFT with gravity, we have to take a family of AdS and follow the sequence that ℓ grows. The estimation of flat-space S-matrix by using eq. (2.27) becomes more and more accurate if we have a family of CFTs supported with large N limit and sparse gap Δ_{gap} . Thus to extract S-matrix accurately by using eq. (2.27), one should consider a family of CFTs. We shall call

$$K_{\rm s} = \left(\prod_{i} e^{i\omega_i t_i} \ell^{\frac{d-1}{2} - \Delta_i} \xi_{\omega_i \Delta_i} |\vec{p}_i|^{1 - \Delta_i} 2^{\Delta_i} \pi^{\frac{d-2}{2}} \Gamma\left(1 + \Delta_i - \frac{d}{2}\right)\right), \qquad (2.28)$$

the global scattering smearing kernel. This global scattering smearing kernel generalizes the massless smearing written down in [14], and was also recently obtained by requiring the consistency with HKLL formula [22] (where they take $\Delta \sim m\ell \rightarrow \infty$ to simplify the prefactor). Note that the integration range in t is different from [14] for massless case. In [14], the scattering smearing kernel integrates time within $t \in (-\pi/2\ell - \delta t, -\pi/2\ell + \delta t)$, because it was argued that the flat-space physics emerges from the wave packets starting



Figure 4. Poincare AdS only covers a wedge of global AdS. On l.h.s., the lines marked \mathcal{B} meet the global AdS boundary. \mathcal{B} is the boundary of Poincare AdS where CFT lives. On the r.h.s., we depict a local figure near \mathcal{B} .

around $\tau = -\pi/2$ [8], and δt exists to make sure the in and out wave packets don't overlap. Here we construct the scattering smearing kernel from the exact free theory and thus the integration range runs over the reasonable range of τ , i.e., $(-\pi/2 - \tau_0, \pi/2 - \tau_0)$. In the next section, we prove that there is indeed $\tau = -\pi/2$ (for reference point $\tau_0 > 0$) dominates the scattering smearing kernel and thus effectively gives $t \in (-\pi/2\ell - \delta t, -\pi/2\ell + \delta t)$.

2.2 Poincare quantization and the momentum space

We can also consider quantization in Poincare coordinates

$$ds^{2} = \frac{\ell^{2}}{z^{2}} \left(dz^{2} - dT^{2} + \sum_{i=1}^{d-1} dY_{i}^{2} \right) , \qquad (2.29)$$

which can be depicted as figure 4. It is straightforward to work with the quantization in this coordinate, which gives

$$\phi = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}\ell^{\frac{d-1}{2}}} \int_{E>|K|} \frac{dEd^{d-1}K}{(2\pi)^{\frac{d-1}{2}}} \left(a_{EK}e^{-iET+i\vec{K}\cdot Y} z^{\frac{d}{2}} J_{\Delta-\frac{d}{2}}\left(z|\mathbf{K}|\right) + \text{c.c} \right),$$
(2.30)

where we denote $|\mathbf{K}| = \sqrt{E^2 - K^2} > 0$, and the overall factor is determined by canonical quantization condition

$$\left[\phi(Y), \pi_{\phi}(Y')\right] = i \frac{\delta^{(d)}(Y - Y')}{\sqrt{-g}}, \quad \left[a_{EK}, a_{E'K'}^{\dagger}\right] = \delta(E - E')\delta^{(d-1)}(K - K'). \quad (2.31)$$

Note this quantization is only valid for E > K where the momentum is time-like, which is the necessary condition for the field to have its CFT dual. For the space-like spectrum E < K, it is equivalent to consider Euclidean AdS, and this quantization crashes because of the divergence at Poincare horizon $z \to 0$. Instead of the Bessel function of the first kind, the quantization for spatial momentum should be expanded by the modified Bessel function of the second kind K_{ν} which does, however, not have the appropriate fall-off to admit operator dual. We shall emphasize it does not contradict the Euclidean AdS/CFT, it only indicates that in Euclidean space the quantization of CFT operators is not compatible with the bulk quantization described above if we persist AdS. Nevertheless, [18] established a flat-space limit in the momentum space for spatial momentum, and the price is to have an imaginary momentum in the bulk. We show in appendix A their limit is equivalent to ours but wick rotates $z \to iz$, which in effect analytically continues AdS to dS.

The scalar field in flat-space is standardly quantized via

$$\varphi = \int \frac{d^d k}{(2\pi)^d \, 2\omega} \left(a_k e^{-i\omega t + \vec{k} \cdot x} + a_k^{\dagger} e^{i\omega t - i\vec{k} \cdot x} \right) \,, \tag{2.32}$$

where

$$[\varphi(x), \pi_{\varphi}(x')] = i\delta^{(d)}(x - x'), \quad [a_k, a_{k'}^{\dagger}] = (2\pi)^d 2\omega \delta^{(d)}(k - k').$$
(2.33)

Our first goal is thus to understand that how the flat-space limit brings (2.30) to (2.32). For this purpose, we change the variables

$$z = e^{\frac{x_d}{\ell}},\tag{2.34}$$

such that the limit $\ell \to \infty$ would nicely give rise to Minkowski space

$$ds^{2} = -dt^{2} + \sum_{i=1}^{d} dx_{i}^{2}, \quad t = \ell T, \quad x_{i < d} = \ell Y_{i}.$$
(2.35)

To fully understand the flat-space limit of quantization, we have to clarify $\ell \to \infty$ limit of mode functions. As before, the Fourier phase factor is trivial, we just need to take the energy and the momenta in AdS scaling as ℓ , i.e., $E = \omega \ell$, $K = k\ell$. Probing the large ℓ limit of Bessel functions is more technically difficult. We shall first explicitly write down the series representation of Bessel function

$$J_{\nu}(x) = \left(\frac{1}{2}x\right)^{\nu} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (-1)^n \frac{\left(\frac{1}{4}x^2\right)^n}{\Gamma(\nu+n+1)\Gamma(n+1)},$$
(2.36)

and we should be interested in its limit at $\nu, x \to \infty$ with ν/x fixed. The strategy is to rewrite this series in terms of a complex integral

$$J_{\nu}(x) = \int_{C} \frac{dz}{2\pi i} \frac{\left(\frac{1}{2}x\right)^{2z+\nu}}{\Gamma(\nu+z+1)\Gamma(z+1)} \frac{e^{iz\pi}}{e^{2iz\pi}-1} \,.$$
(2.37)

When we deform the contour to pick up poles located at $z \in \mathbb{Z}^+$, the series representation (2.36) is produced. The trick to find its limit is to notice that the limit exponentiates the integrand, and thus we can deform the integral contour to pick up the saddle-points, which gives

$$J_{\nu}(x)\Big|_{\nu,x\to\infty,\nu/x\,\text{fixed}} = \frac{e^{-\frac{3i\pi}{4} - i\chi}x^{-i\chi}(\nu - i\chi)^{\frac{1}{2}(i\chi-\nu)}(\nu + i\chi)^{\frac{1}{2}(i\chi+\nu)}}{\sqrt{2\pi}(e^{i\pi\nu-\pi\chi} - 1)\chi^{\frac{1}{2}}} + \text{c.c}\,,\qquad(2.38)$$

where $\chi = \sqrt{x^2 - \nu^2}$. The process is depicted in figure 5. This trick is actually the main tool of this paper, and we will use it to derive the flat-space limit formula in following sections. After simple algebra, we find

$$J_{\Delta - \frac{d}{2}}(|\mathbf{K}|z)|_{\ell \to \infty} = \alpha_{k_d} e^{ik_d x_d} + \alpha_{k_d}^{\dagger} e^{-ik_d x_d}, \qquad (2.39)$$



Figure 5. The original integral contour of z, as depicted as dotted line, picks up poles denoted as cross at positive integers, which sums to Bessel function. The contour is deformed to pass through the saddle-points in the desired limit.

where $k_d = \sqrt{|\mathbf{k}|^2 - m^2}$ and

$$\alpha_{k_d} = \frac{e^{i\ell k_d - i\frac{\pi}{4}}(m + ik_d)^{-\frac{\Delta}{2}}(m - ik_d)^{\frac{\Delta}{2}}}{\sqrt{2\pi\ell}k_d^{\frac{1}{2}}}.$$
(2.40)

Then it is readily to evaluate

$$\phi|_{\ell \to \infty} = \frac{\ell^{\frac{d+1}{2}}}{\sqrt{2}} \int \frac{dk_d d^{d-1}k}{(2\pi)^{\frac{d-1}{2}}} \frac{k_d}{\omega} (a_{EK} \alpha_{k_d} e^{-i\omega t + i\vec{k} \cdot x} + \text{c.c}), \qquad (2.41)$$

where the covariant momentum now is

$$p^{(d+1)} = (\omega, k) = (\omega, k_{i < d}, k_d) = (p^{(d)}, k_d), \qquad (2.42)$$

which satisfies the on-shell condition trivially. We have used on-shell condition to replace $d\omega$ by dk_d with a Jacobian factor k_d/ω , it is then easy to observe that $\alpha_{k_d} = (2\pi \ell k_d)^{-\frac{1}{2}} e^{i\tilde{\alpha}_{k_d} - i\frac{\pi}{4}}$, where $\tilde{\alpha}_{k_d}$ is purely real in the Lorentzian signature and denotes the nontrivial phase. We thus obtain the limit for annihilation (or creation) operator

$$a_{EK}|_{\ell \to \infty} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\ell^{d-1}(2\pi)^{d-1}}} \alpha_{k_d}^{\dagger} e^{i(\eta + \frac{\pi}{4})} a_k , \qquad (2.43)$$

which suggests the same formula (2.18). We can then readily obtain the smearing kernel in Poincare coordinate (we simply choose $\eta = -\pi/4$ to cancel the pure number in the phase)

$$|p\rangle = 2^{1-\frac{d}{2}+\Delta} \ell^{-\Delta} \sqrt{\frac{\Gamma(1+\Delta-\frac{d}{2})}{\Gamma(\frac{d}{2}-\Delta)}} \frac{k_d^{\frac{1}{2}}}{|\mathbf{k}|^{\Delta-\frac{d}{2}}} e^{-i\tilde{\alpha}_{k_d}} \int d^d x e^{ip^{(d)} \cdot x} \mathcal{O}(T,Y) |0\rangle.$$
(2.44)



Figure 6. The red strip of boundary can reconstruct the bulk fields living in the region enclosed by the red strip.

We can thus conclude

$$S = \lim_{\ell \to \infty} \int \left(\prod_{i} d^{d} x_{i} 2^{1 - \frac{d}{2} + \Delta_{i}} \ell^{-\Delta_{i}} \sqrt{\frac{\Gamma\left(1 + \Delta_{i} - \frac{d}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2} - \Delta_{i}\right)}} \frac{k_{id}^{\frac{1}{2}}}{|\mathbf{k}_{i}|^{\Delta_{i} - \frac{d}{2}}} e^{-i\tilde{\alpha}_{k_{d}}} e^{ip_{i}^{(d)} \cdot x_{i}} \right) \langle \mathcal{O}_{1} \cdots \mathcal{O}_{n} \rangle_{\mathrm{L}},$$

$$(2.45)$$

where the subscript L denotes the Lorentzian correlator. In other words, written in Poincare patch, the flat-space S-matrix is simply the Fourier-transform of correlators, up to prefactors with robust dependence on the momentum. This formula reminds us the flat-space limit in momentum space of AdS proposed in [18] for massless particles, which is actually related to ours by wick rotations to Euclidean CFT and is also shared by dS flat-space limit. We explain the details in appendix A, and here we simply quote the formula

$$S = \lim_{\ell \to \infty} \int \left(\prod_{i} d^{d} x_{i} 2^{1 - \frac{d}{2} + \Delta_{i}} \ell^{-\Delta_{i}} \sqrt{\frac{\Gamma(1 + \Delta_{i} - \frac{d}{2})}{\Gamma(\frac{d}{2} - \Delta_{i})}} \frac{\omega_{i}^{\frac{1}{2}}}{|p_{i}|^{\Delta_{i} - \frac{d}{2}}} e^{-i\tilde{\alpha}_{\omega}} e^{ip_{i} \cdot x_{i}} \right) \langle \mathcal{O}_{1} \cdots \mathcal{O}_{n} \rangle_{\mathrm{E}},$$

$$(2.46)$$

where p is spatial and satisfies $-\omega^2 + p^2 = -m^2$.

2.3 HKLL + LSZ = scattering smearing kernel

In preceding sections, we constructed the scattering smearing kernel for both global AdS and Poincare AdS by quantization procedures. The quantization and mode sum approach is also used to construct the HKLL formula which reconstructs the bulk fields from boundary CFT operators [20, 21]

$$\phi(X) = \int d^d P K(X; P) \mathcal{O}(P) , \qquad (2.47)$$

where X is bulk coordinate and P boundary coordinate. An illustrative example is depicted in figure 6. Eq. (2.47) is the HKLL formula encoding only the free theory. In order to reconstruct bulk fields with interactions, the HKLL formula should include more terms perturbatively in couplings. Nevertheless, the free theory version above is enough for our purpose as we consider perturbative QFT: the Feynman rules consist of only the free fields supplemented by the form of interaction vertices, while the exact propagator is not necessary. We can expect that the flat-space limit of HKLL formula simply represents flatspace fields in terms of CFT operators. In flat-space, S-matrix can be constructed from correlator of fields through LSZ reduction. For scalars, it reads

$$S = \int \left(\prod_{i=1}^{n} d^{d+1} x_i e^{ip_i \cdot x_i} (p_i^2 + m_i^2)\right) \langle \mathrm{T}\phi(x_1) \cdots \phi(x_n) \rangle, \qquad (2.48)$$

where T refers to time ordering. Thus it is natural that scattering smearing kernel could be constructed by simply combining HKLL formula and LSZ reduction, in a way that we have

$$S = \lim_{\ell \to \infty} \int \left(\prod_{i=1}^{n} d^{d+1} x_i d^d x_i' e^{i p_i \cdot x_i} \left(p_i^2 + m_i^2 \right) K\left(x_i; x_i'\right) \right) \left\langle \mathcal{O}(x_1') \cdots \mathcal{O}(x_n') \right\rangle.$$
(2.49)

In this subsection, we provide strong evidence that this procedure indeed works for both global smearing and Poincare smearing. For simplicity, we consider HKLL formula in even bulk dimensions, which is then free of logarithmic term. In odd bulk dimensions, although HKLL formula contains a further logarithmic term, we can argue that such a logarithmic term just gives an factor that is naturally absorbed in the normalization.

In both global and Poincare AdS, the smearing function K in HKLL formula eq. (2.47) is written as [21]

$$K(x,\rho;x') = \frac{(-1)^{\frac{d-1}{2}} 2^{\Delta-d-1} \Gamma(\Delta - \frac{d}{2} + 1)}{\pi^{\frac{d}{2}} \Gamma(\Delta - d + 1)} \sigma(x,x')^{\Delta-d}, \qquad (2.50)$$

where $\sigma(x, x')$ is the geodesic length connecting bulk points x and boundary points x', which reads, respectively for global and Poincare AdS

$$\sigma_{\text{global}} = \cos(\tau - \tau') - \sin\rho \,\hat{r} \cdot \hat{r'}, \quad \sigma_{\text{Poincare}} = z^2 + |Y - Y'|^2 - |T - T'|^2. \tag{2.51}$$

To derive the scattering smearing kernel, we rewrite $\sigma^{\Delta-d}$ as $\exp[(\Delta-d)\log\sigma]$, then we can first integrate over x_i in eq. (2.49) by picking up the saddle-points of time at large ℓ limit.

Let's first discuss the global smearing, where we have integrands for each x_i as follows

$$\int dt_i d^d x_i \exp[-i\omega_i t_i + i|p_i|\hat{p}_i \cdot x_i + (\Delta - d)\log\sigma_{\text{global}}].$$
(2.52)

We simply slip off the normalization factor in HKLL formula (2.50). We can use eq. (2.10) and find that there is a saddle-point for time t_i

$$t_i^* = (\arctan(-i\frac{\omega_i}{m_i}) + \tau_i')\ell.$$
(2.53)

Expanding the exponents around this saddle-point and integrating t_i yields

$$\int d^{d}x_{i}e^{-i\omega_{i}\tau_{i}^{\prime}\ell-i(|p_{i}|\hat{p}_{i}\cdot x_{i}-\sqrt{\omega_{i}^{2}-m_{i}^{2}}\hat{r}_{i}^{\prime}\cdot x_{i})}$$

$$\times \sqrt{\ell} i^{-\Delta_{i}+\omega_{i}\ell+d}m_{i}^{\Delta_{i}-d+\frac{1}{2}}\frac{(\omega_{i}\ell-\Delta_{i})^{\frac{\omega_{i}\ell}{2}}}{(\omega_{i}\ell+\Delta_{i})^{\frac{\omega_{i}\ell}{2}}}(\omega_{i}^{2}-m_{i}^{2})^{\frac{d-\Delta_{i}}{2}-1}.$$
(2.54)

Note that we should not take the on-shell condition $\omega^2 - m^2 = |p|^2$ at this moment, since there is literally not such constraint in AdS, rather we expect

$$|p| \sim \sqrt{\omega^2 - m^2} + \frac{\#}{\ell}$$
 (2.55)

On the other hand, keeping $p^2 + m^2 \neq 0$ is helpful for keeping track of how one-particle factor $p_i^2 + m_i^2$ in eq. (2.49) get canceled. In fact, we can observe that there is a Dirac delta function of the on-shell condition coming from the remaining Fourier factor when we integrate over x_i , which can cancel one-particle factor. More precisely, we have

$$\int d^d x_i e^{-i(|p_i|\hat{p}_i \cdot x_i - \sqrt{\omega^2 - m^2} \hat{r}'_i \cdot x_i)} \sim \delta^{(d-1)} \left(\hat{p}_i - \hat{r}'_i\right) \frac{\delta\left(|p_i| - \sqrt{\omega_i^2 - m_i^2}\right)}{|p_i|^{d-1}}.$$
(2.56)

Now we see the delta function mapping directions appear as in eq. (2.26), and we can directly integrated it out. If we take the on-shell condition, we then have $\delta(0)$, giving the length of radius of our effective flat-space which is of the order ℓ . On the other hand, the one-particle factor gives $p_i^2 + m_i^2 \propto 2|p_i|\ell$, we can then argue that one-particle factor and delta function of on-shell condition get canceled, leaving us kinematic factor $2|p_i|$ with some other things to be fixed by normalization. Including additional $|p_i|$ and $1/\Gamma(\Delta - d + 1)$ in HKLL formula eq. (2.50), the kinematic factor $e^{i\omega_i t_i}\xi_{\omega_i\Delta_i}|\vec{p_i}|^{1-\Delta}$ in scattering smearing kernel eq. (2.28) is precisely produced! HKLL formula eq. (2.50) also provides the Gamma function $\Gamma(\Delta - d/2 + 1)$, but we still miss some normalization factors, for example, correct scaling in ℓ . The loss of correct normalization factors is resulted from our rough estimate of the integral where the delta function of on-shell condition arises. The on-shell condition is the saddle-point for |p| at large ℓ limit, and a more careful analysis around this saddle-point may give rise to a function that cancels one-particle factor and includes the correct normalization. Nevertheless, we can fix the normalization by requiring tow-point S-matrix is canonically normalized, as we will show in appendix B

$$S_{12} = \langle p_1 | p_2 \rangle = (2\pi)^d 2\omega \delta^{(d)}(p_1 - p_2) \,. \tag{2.57}$$

The Poincare smearing follows similarly. Except now we have

$$\int dT_i d^{d-1} Y_i dx_d \exp[-i\omega_i T_i \ell + i\vec{k}_i \cdot Y_i \ell + i(k_d)_i (x_d)_i + (\Delta - d) \log \sigma_{\text{Poincare}}].$$
(2.58)

The saddle-points of T_i and Y_i are

$$T_i - T'_i = -\frac{i\omega_i(m_i + i(k_d)_i)}{|\mathbf{k}_i|}, \quad Y_i - Y'_i = -\frac{ik_i(m_i + i(k_d)_i)}{|\mathbf{k}_i|}.$$
 (2.59)

Let's only look into the important exponent. We find, after integrating out T_i and Y_i

$$\int dx_d e^{-ip_i \cdot x_i + i(k_d - \sqrt{|\mathbf{k}|^2 - m^2} x_d)} e^{-i\tilde{\alpha}_{k_d}}(\cdots), \qquad (2.60)$$

where (\cdots) represents those not-so-essential factors that could be fixed by eq. (2.57). Note the Fourier-transform factor of Poincare smearing kernel (2.45) already appears, while the further integration over x_d gives, as in global case, the on-shell condition that is about to get canceled by one-particle factor.

In odd dimensions, the smearing function is modified by additional factor of $\log \sigma$. However, such logarithmic factor doesn't affect the exponent and the saddle-points. Thus it simply gives a constant $\log \sigma^*$ specified to saddle-points and can be absorbed in the normalization factor.

Now we understand the scattering smearing kernel as the flat-space limit of HKLL bulk reconstruction, the AdS subregion duality [23–25] then suggests that a local point (where the interactions happen) belongs to the overlap region of global and Poincare AdS can be reconstructed either from global smearing or Poincare smearing. It is thus not surprising that we can transform the Poincare scattering smearing to global scattering smearing, as we will show in section 4.

3 The flat-space limit from global smearing

3.1 Known frameworks of the flat-space limit

We begin with briefly reviewing the existed frameworks of flat-space limit, include Mellin space, coordinate space and partial-wave expansion, from historical point of view without providing very technical details. We will then show these frameworks are originated from global smearing kernel eq. (2.28) in the following subsections and dig in more physical details there. Our focus is always the flat-space limit $\ell \to \infty$, thus we may keep $\ell \to \infty$ implicit in the rest of this paper when there is no confusion.

Mellin space

• Massless

The Mellin formula (Mellin space will be reviewed shortly in the next subsection) describing the massless scattering in the flat-space limit was first proposed in [13], it gives

$$T(s_{ij}) = \ell^{\frac{n(d-1)}{2} - d - 1} \Gamma\left(\frac{\Delta_{\Sigma} - d}{2}\right) \int_{-i\infty}^{i\infty} \frac{d\alpha}{2\pi i} e^{\alpha} \alpha^{\frac{d-\Delta_{\Sigma}}{2}} M\left(\delta_{ij} = -\frac{\ell^2}{4\alpha} s_{ij}\right), \quad (3.1)$$

where we use the shorthand notation $\Delta_{\Sigma} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \Delta_{i}$. This formula was proved in [14] by using the massless scattering smearing kernel (global AdS). We will actually follow the proof [14] in appendix C. It also passes verification to work for supersymmetric theories, see e.g., [27–33].

• Massive

The Mellin formula describing the massive scattering in the flat-space limit was conjectured in [17], and was recently rederived from massive formula in coordinate space [16]. In our conventions, it reads

$$m_1^{\frac{n(d-1)}{2}-d-1}T(s_{ij}) = \Delta_1^{\frac{n(d-1)}{2}-d-1}M(\delta_{ij} = \frac{\Delta_i \Delta_j}{\Delta_{\Sigma}}(1 + \frac{\vec{p}_i \cdot \vec{p}_j}{m_i m_j})).$$
(3.2)



Figure 7. Bulk-point kinematics in Lorentzian cylinder of AdS. X_1 and X_2 are at Lorentzian time $-\pi/2$, X_3 and X_4 are at Lorentzian time $\pi/2$, where particles are focused on the bulk-point P.

Coordinate space

• Massless

The massless scattering written in the coordinate space only has the version for four-point function, which first came out in [12] and was rederived from Mellin descriptions in [13]. Analysis of contact terms of Witten diagram also suggests the same expression [15], which also phrases the name "bulk-point limit".

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_1 \cdots \mathcal{O}_4 \rangle = \prod_{i=1}^4 \frac{\mathcal{C}_{\Delta_i}}{\Gamma(\Delta_i)} \frac{i^{\Delta_{\Sigma}} \pi^{\frac{d+3}{2}} \ell^{\Delta_{\Sigma}-d}}{2^{\Delta_{\Sigma}}} \int ds \left(\frac{\sqrt{s}}{2}\right)^{\Delta_{\Sigma} - \frac{d+7}{2}} \xi^{\frac{3-d}{2}} K_{\underline{d-3}} \left(\sqrt{s}\xi\right) \frac{iT(s,\sigma)}{2\sqrt{\sigma(1-\sigma)}},$$
(3.3)

where

$$\xi^{2} = -\lim_{\det P_{ij} \to 0} \frac{\ell^{2} \det P_{ij}}{4P_{12}P_{34}\sqrt{P_{13}P_{24}P_{14}P_{23}}}, \quad \sigma = \frac{P_{13}P_{24}}{P_{14}P_{23}}, \quad (3.4)$$

where det $P_{ij} \sim (z - \bar{z})^2 \sim 0$ is called the bulk-point limit in [15]. One example of the development of this bulk-point is to start with boundary configuration where the Lorentzian time of $\mathcal{O}_{1,2}$ is $-\pi/2$ and the Lorentzian time of $\mathcal{O}_{3,4}$ is $\pi/2$ [15], see figure 7 (figure directly copied from [34])

• Massive

The flat-space limit for massive scattering was recently conjectured in [16] (the same parameterization was also obtained in [22]), rather straightforward by relating kinematics of flat-space scattering to embedding coordinate of CFT

$$P = \left(1, -\frac{\omega}{m}, i\frac{\vec{p}}{m}\right), \quad T(s_{ij}) = D\langle \mathcal{O}_1 \cdots \mathcal{O}_n \rangle, \qquad (3.5)$$

where D denotes the contact diagram in AdS, and it can represent the momentum conserving delta function being absorbed into T to give the S-matrix conjecture [16]

$$S = \langle \mathcal{O}_1 \cdots \mathcal{O}_n \rangle \,. \tag{3.6}$$

Partial-wave expansion/phase-shift formula. The description of flat-space limit in terms of partial-wave expansion only refers to four-point case (where $\Delta_2 = \Delta_3, \Delta_4 = \Delta_1$). The four-point function is expanded in terms of conformal blocks, and the flat-space amplitude is expanded in terms of the partial-waves (where the coefficients are usually named as scattering phase-shift), then one has a map for coefficients of expansions.

• Massless

Expand eq. (3.3) in terms of conformal blocks and partial-waves for l.h.s. and r.h.s. respectively, one can have access to the formula [15]

$$e^{-i\pi\gamma_{n,J}} \frac{c_{n,J}}{c_{n,J}^{(0)}}\Big|_{n\to\infty} = e^{2i\delta_J}, \quad 4n^2 = \ell^2 s.$$
 (3.7)

One example of contact diagram at leading order was verified in [15], see [35] for examples of scalar and graviton tree-level exchange. It even passes checks at loop level [36]. Surprisingly, this formula is recently verified to work for gluon scattering, without referring to explicit expression of conformal blocks and partial-waves [34].

• Massive

The phase-shift formula for massive scattering was proposed in [17]

$$\frac{1}{N_J} \sum_{|\Delta - \sqrt{s}\ell| < \delta E} e^{-i\pi(\Delta - \Delta_1 - \Delta_2 - J)} \frac{c_{\Delta,J}}{c_{\Delta,J}^{(0)}} \Big|_{\Delta \to \infty} = e^{2i\delta_J}, \qquad (3.8)$$

where N_J is the normalization factor to make sure $e^{2i\delta_J} = 1$ for free theory. Recently, by doing conformal block/partial-wave expansion for their flat-space limit in the coordinate space eq. (3.5), [16] managed to derive the same phase-shift formula for identical particles.

It is not hard to see for each framework, the formulas for flat-space limit of massless scattering and massive scattering are quite different. For example, the massless Mellin formula is represented as integral over Mellin amplitudes, but massive Mellin formula doesn't have any integral to perform. We expect that massless scattering and massive scattering should be combined into one formula, as suggested by scattering smearing kernel. Meanwhile, as far as we know, some frameworks, for example, the coordinate framework for massive scattering, still remain as a conjecture with supportive examples [16]. In the following subsection, we will start with the global smearing eq. (2.28) and present how all those existed descriptions of flat-space limit naturally arise around the saddle-points of the scattering smearing kernel.

3.2 Mellin space and saddle-points

For our purpose, we factorize out the time dependence of the scattering smearing kernel K_s (2.28) and denote the remaining factor as kinematic factor

$$\prod_{i} \ell^{\frac{d-1}{2} - \Delta_i} \xi_{\omega_i \Delta_i} |\vec{p}_i|^{1 - \Delta} 2^{\Delta_i} \pi^{\frac{d-2}{2}} \Gamma\left(1 + \Delta_i - \frac{d}{2}\right) = \text{KI}.$$
(3.9)

Such a factor play its role when deriving the final formulae, but it is not relevant for saddle-points analysis.

The *n*-point function in CFT and thus the corresponding AdS amplitudes can be nicely and naturally represented in Mellin space [13, 37-39] (which is argued to be well-defined non-perturvatively [40])

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_1 \cdots \mathcal{O}_n \rangle = \frac{\mathcal{N}}{(2\pi i)^{\frac{n(n-3)}{2}}} \int d\delta_{ij} \prod_{i < j} \Gamma(\delta_{ij}) (P_{ij})^{-\delta_{ij}} M(\delta_{ij}) , \quad \sum_{j \neq i} \delta_{ij} = \Delta_i , \qquad (3.10)$$

where the normalization factor is

$$\mathcal{N} = \frac{\pi^{\frac{d}{2}}}{2} \Gamma\left(\frac{\Delta_{\Sigma} - d}{2}\right) \prod_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\mathcal{C}_{\Delta_{i}}}{\Gamma(\Delta_{i})}, \quad \mathcal{C}_{\Delta} = \frac{\Gamma(\Delta)}{2\pi^{\frac{d}{2}} \Gamma(\Delta - \frac{d}{2} + 1)}.$$
(3.11)

In Mellin space eq. (3.10), δ_{ij} is called the Mellin variables, and their integral contours run parallel to the imaginary axis. Note in our coordinate (2.4), we have

$$-2P_i \cdot P_j := P_{ij} = 2(\cos \tau_{ij} - \hat{p}_i \cdot \hat{p}_j), \qquad (3.12)$$

where we have already used the fact that $\hat{r} \to \hat{p}$ due to the presence of delta function in smearing kernel (2.26). To play with the flat-space limit of Mellin amplitudes, we can redefine $\delta_{ij} = \ell^2 \sigma_{ij}$. This redefinition should not be understood as that Mellin variables in CFT depend on ℓ , because a pure CFT correlator does not know about ℓ ; rather, as we will show shortly, this redefinition is taken for convenience, because the smearing kernel pushes δ_{ij} to regions that can be parameterized in terms of ℓ . Moreover, to make order counting more obvious and straightforward, we make the following convention

$$\tilde{P}_{ij} = \frac{|p_i||p_j|}{2\sum_k \Delta_k} P_{ij}, \qquad (3.13)$$

such that \tilde{P}_{ij} is well-defined with no subtlety for taking massless limit, and from now on we would shortly write $|\vec{p}|$ as |p|. Such an redefinition is arbitrary and ambiguous as soon as the prefactor is factorized into sum of pair i, j, provided the constraints of δ_{ij} , i.e.,

$$\sum_{i < j} (b_i + b_j) \delta_{ij} = \sum_i b_i \Delta_i \,. \tag{3.14}$$

Such a redefinition does nothing but provide additional prefactors that are not relevant to saddle-points analysis. We make our choice for latter convenience. In the flat-space limit, we can call Stirling approximation for $\Gamma(\delta_{ij})$ and rewrite $P_{ij}^{-\delta_{ij}}$ as an exponent. Then, we can further add the Lagrange multiplier, which is responsible for constraining δ_{ij} , and we will have following exponent

$$\exp\left[\ell^2 \sum_{i < j} \left(-\sigma_{ij} + \sigma_{ij} \log \sigma_{ij} - \sigma_{ij} \log \tilde{P}_{ij}\right) + i\ell \sum_i \omega_i \tau_i + i \sum_i \lambda_i \left(\sum_{j \neq i} \ell^2 \sigma_{ij} - \Delta_i\right)\right].$$
(3.15)

It is instructive to make variable change for λ_i

$$e^{-i\lambda_i} = \beta_i \,, \tag{3.16}$$

which rewrites the exponent as

$$\exp\left[\ell^{2}\sum_{i
(3.17)$$

We can actually immediately solve the saddle-points of above exponent for σ_{ij}

$$\sigma_{ij} = \beta_i \beta_j \dot{P}_{ij} \,. \tag{3.18}$$

Substitute this saddle-point into above exponent, we obtain

$$\exp\left[\ell^2 \sum_{i < j} \left(-\frac{\beta_i \beta_j}{\Delta_{\Sigma}} \left(\cos \tau_{ij} |p_i| |p_j| - \vec{p_i} \cdot \vec{p_j}\right)\right) + \sum_i \Delta_i \log \beta_i + i\ell \sum_i \omega_i \tau_i\right].$$
(3.19)

we can start from this exponent and go further to solve saddle-points for τ_i and β_i . We assume the momentum conservation, and we can then find a very simple solution to saddle-points equations. We can already notice the difference between massless formula and massive formula comes from the last two terms: they do not contribute for massless case but play their roles for massive case.

• All massless partiales

For the scattering where all particles are massless, Δ_i is order 1, and thus we could neglect the last two terms to consider the saddle-point analysis. The equation gives below

$$\text{vary } \tau_i \to -\sum_{i \neq k} \frac{\beta_i \beta_k}{\Delta_{\Sigma}} \sin \tau_{ik} |p_i| |p_k| = 0 ,$$
$$\text{vary } \beta_i \to \sum_{i \neq k} \frac{\beta_i}{\Delta_{\Sigma}} \left(-\cos \tau_{ik} |p_i| |p_k| + \vec{p_i} \cdot \vec{p_k} \right) = 0 .$$
(3.20)

It is not hard to find a very simple solution to above equation

$$\sin \tau_{ij} = 0, \quad \cos \tau_{ij} = \pm 1, \quad \beta_i = \beta, \qquad (3.21)$$

where β is arbitrary. There is \pm sign, because we analytically continue the momentum such that all particles are in-going, which implies that energy ω of some particles are negative, i.e., $\omega = -|p|$, to guarantee the energy conservation. The saddle-points obtained above produce the known bulk-point configurations figure 7 where massless scalars start around $\tau_i = \pm \pi/2$ [15].

• All massive particles

For scattering with all massive particles, we should scale $\Delta_i = m_i \ell$, and all terms in the exponent become the same order and participate in the saddle equations

vary
$$\tau_i \to -\sum_{i \neq k} \frac{\beta_i \beta_k}{m_{\Sigma}} \sin \tau_{ik} |p_i| |p_k| + i\omega_k = 0$$
,
vary $\beta_i \to \sum_{i \neq k} \frac{\beta_i}{m_{\Sigma}} (-\cos \tau_{ik} |p_i| |p_j| + \vec{p}_i \cdot \vec{p}_k) + \frac{m_k}{\beta_k} = 0$. (3.22)

The simple solution is

$$\sin \tau_{ij} = i \frac{\omega_i m_j - \omega_j m_i}{|p_i| |p_j|}, \quad \cos \tau_{ij} = \frac{-m_i m_j + \omega_i \omega_j}{|p_i| |p_j|}, \quad \beta_i = i.$$
 (3.23)

We can easily verify that above solution for $\sin \tau_{ij}$ and $\cos \tau_{ij}$ is consistent on-shell, and there is a simple solution which we can take for convenience

$$\tau_i = \pm \arcsin \frac{\omega_i}{|p_i|} \,. \tag{3.24}$$

It is obvious that trivially shifting every τ_i above by the same constant still satisfies eq. (3.23). Choosing a convenient reference point can be understood as a sort of gauge choice or frame choice associated with τ translation symmetry (which is the constant scaling symmetry of a CFT) subject to saddle constraints eq. (3.23) and the presumed range $\tau \in (-\pi/2 - \delta, \pi/2 - \delta)$. Amazing part is that the solution of τ_i is continuous without subtlety for massless limit, except that β_i cannot be fully determined for massless case. We can easily show that the solution eq. (3.24) is exactly what [16] suggests for writing the flat-space limit in coordinate space. We only need to scale P by $\cos \tau$

$$P \to \left(1, -i \tan \tau, \frac{\hat{r}}{\cos \tau}\right)$$
 (3.25)

This scaling is allowed, because in embedding space, correlators are homogeneous in scaling P weighted by conformal dimensions [41]. Compare with [16], we can easily find

$$n_0 = -i\tan\tau, \quad n_i = \frac{\hat{r}}{\cos\tau}. \tag{3.26}$$

Taking the saddle-points (3.24) (we choose the minus sign, i.e., $\sin \tau = -\omega/|p|$ and $\cos \tau = -im/|p|$), it is easy to find

$$n_0 = -\frac{\omega}{m}, \quad n_i = i\frac{\vec{p}}{m}, \qquad (3.27)$$

which is exactly eq. (2.9) in [16]! The scaling introduces 1/m, making their parameterization [16] not suitable for addressing massless particles.

• Mixing massless and massive particles

When external particles have both massless and massive particles, the situation makes no difference from scattering with all massive particles, thanks to analytic property at massless limit of saddle-points τ_i . This fact is quite obvious but surprising: as soon as there is one massive particle, its contribution will make β_i determined!

Some more comments come in order. First, we have to note that above saddle-points analysis assume the energy and momentum conservation, which is, however, not guaranteed in AdS. When taking the flat-space limit, the dominant part of the spacetime is translational symmetric, giving rise to the conservation of the momentum. This fact can be made manifest when we are deriving the flat-space formula of Mellin amplitudes by using global scattering smearing kernel. The original scattering smearing kernel is constructed for the whole S-matrix eq. (2.27), and we can easily subtract the identity I (which represents the free field theory) to leave only scattering amplitudes T. It is obvious that the free QFT I corresponds to mean field theory (MFT) of CFT, because MFT factorizes CFT correlators into several pieces of two-point functions multiplied together

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_1 \cdots \mathcal{O}_n \rangle = \langle \mathcal{O}_1 \mathcal{O}_2 \rangle \langle \mathcal{O}_3 \mathcal{O}_4 \rangle \cdots \langle \mathcal{O}_{n-1} \mathcal{O}_n \rangle + \text{perm},$$
 (3.28)

which gives rise to a bunch of conserving factors $\delta(p_i + p_j)$

$$\mathbb{I} = S_{12}S_{34}\cdots S_{n-1,n} + \text{perm} = \delta(p_1 + p_2)\delta(p_3 + p_4)\cdots + \text{perm}, \qquad (3.29)$$

where S_{ij} is defined in eq. (B.1). Writing in terms of scattering amplitudes, we have

$$T = -i \int d^{d+1} p_{\text{tot}} \int \prod_{i=1}^{n} d\tau_i K_s \langle \mathcal{O}_1 \cdots \mathcal{O}_n \rangle_c , \qquad (3.30)$$

where the subscript "c" denotes the connected part of CFT correlator and we utilize an integral over p_{tot} to eliminate the momentum conservation delta function (without causing confusion, we will ignore the subscript for simplicity). In other words, the momentum conservation can be understood as saddle-points of integration over p_{tot} . More precisely, we can define (we follow [14])

$$p_i = p'_i + q$$
, $s_{ij} = s'_{ij} + \frac{2n}{n-2}q \cdot (p_i + p_j) - \frac{2n^2}{(n-1)(n-2)}q^2$, $nq = p_{\text{tot}}$, (3.31)

where p'_i and s'_{ij} are the saddle-points of p_i and s_{ij} , satisfying

$$\sum p'_i = 0, \quad \sum_{j \neq i} s'_{ij} = (n-4)m_i^2 + \sum_{j=1}^n m_j^2.$$
(3.32)

Then we could expand β_i , σ_{ij} and τ_i around their saddle-points

$$\beta_i = \beta^* + \delta\beta_i,$$

$$\tilde{P}_{ij} = \frac{1}{2\Delta_{\Sigma}} (s_{ij} - (m_i + m_j)^2 + \delta s_{ij}),$$

$$\sigma_{ij} = \frac{\beta^2}{2\Delta_{\Sigma}} (s'_{ij} - (m_i + m_j)^2 + \epsilon_{ij}),$$
(3.33)



Figure 8. We deform the contour of α to pass through along the steepest descent contour.

where

$$\delta s_{ij} = (-2\sin\tau_{ij}^* \delta\tau_{ij} - \cos\tau_{ij}^* \delta\tau_{ij}^2 + \cdots)|p_i||p_j|, \qquad (3.34)$$

and perform the integral over the fluctuations $q \sim \delta\beta_i \sim \delta\tau_i \sim \epsilon_{ij} \ll 1$. For latter purpose of presenting the flat-space limit in coordinate space, we may do those integral separately. First, we integrate out ϵ_{ij} and $\delta\beta_i$, which is expected to take the form

$$\left\langle \mathcal{O}_{1}\cdots\mathcal{O}_{n}\right\rangle = \frac{\mathcal{N}}{(2\pi i)^{\frac{n(n-3)}{2}}} \int d\beta \,\mathcal{D}\left(s_{ij},\beta\right) e^{S(q,\delta s_{ij},\beta)} M\left(\delta_{ij} = \frac{\ell^{2}\beta^{2}}{2\Delta_{\Sigma}} \left(s_{ij} - (m_{i} + m_{j})^{2}\right)\right).$$
(3.35)

We can then expand $S(q, \delta s_{ij}, \beta)$ up to $\mathcal{O}(q^2) \sim \mathcal{O}(\delta \tau_i^2)$, and complete the Gaussian integral for $\delta \tau_i$ and p_{tot} . The details are recorded in appendix C, and in the end we obtain a Mellin formula in flat-space limit that applies to arbitrary external scalar particles

$$T(s_{ij}) = \frac{1}{\mathcal{N}_T} \int_{-i\infty}^{i\infty} \frac{d\alpha}{2i\pi} e^{\alpha} \alpha^{\frac{d-\Delta_{\Sigma}}{2}} M\left(\delta_{ij} = -\frac{\ell^2}{4\alpha} \left(s_{ij} - (m_i + m_j)^2\right)\right), \qquad (3.36)$$

where

$$\mathcal{N}_T = \frac{\ell^{\frac{n(1-d)}{2}+d+1}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{\Delta_{\Sigma}-d}{2}\right)}.$$
(3.37)

Let us comment briefly on why this formula governs massless formula eq. (3.1) proposed in [13] and massive formula eq. (3.1) proposed in [17]. For massless scattering, due to $\Delta_i \ll \ell$, we can ignore m_i in Mellin amplitudes and then the formula comes back to eq. (3.1). On the other hand, if there exist one massive particle, then Δ_{Σ} become parametrically large, together with e^{α} , $\alpha^{\frac{\Delta_{\Sigma}-d}{2}}$ exponentiates as $\alpha^{\frac{\Delta_{\Sigma}-d}{2}} = e^{\frac{\Delta_{\Sigma}-d}{2}\log\alpha}$ to locate the saddle-point of α

$$\alpha^* = \frac{\Delta_{\Sigma}}{2} \,. \tag{3.38}$$

Thus we can deform the contour of α to pass through α^* , as shown in figure 8. Around this saddle-point α^* , we have

$$\int_{-i\infty}^{i\infty} \frac{d\alpha}{2i\pi} e^{\alpha + \frac{\Delta_{\Sigma} - d}{2}\log\alpha} f(\alpha) \simeq \frac{e^{\frac{\Delta_{\Sigma}}{2}} 2^{\frac{1}{2}(-d + \Delta_{\Sigma} - 2)} \Delta_{\Sigma}^{\frac{1}{2}(d - \Delta_{\Sigma} + 1)}}{\sqrt{\pi}} f(\alpha^*), \qquad (3.39)$$

where the overall coefficient is precisely the large Δ_{Σ} limit of $1/\Gamma((\Delta_{\Sigma} - d)/2)!$ Thus we are led to eq. (3.1).

The inverse formula of eq. (3.36) is straightforward and would be useful for going to formula in coordinate space

$$M\left(\delta_{ij}\right) = \mathcal{N}_T \int d\gamma e^{-\gamma} \gamma^{\frac{\Delta_{\Sigma} - d}{2} - 1} T\left(s_{ij} = -\frac{4\gamma\delta_{ij}}{\ell^2} + (m_i + m_j)^2\right).$$
(3.40)

The second subtlety is about the effects of Mellin poles on saddle-points, which were posed recently in [16]. For some analytic regions of Maldastam variables, it turns out the deformation of integral contour to go through saddle-points along steepest descent contour would inevitably pick up poles of Mellin amplitudes, as result, the Mellin formula of the flat-space limit might have additional and isolated contribution from those Mellin poles. In terms of perturbative Witten diagram, this subtle phenomenon is corresponding to the existence of Landau pole [16]. A similar phenomenon is also observed in [42] where there exist saddle-points of AdS giving something different from flat-space S-matrix. We do not consider this subtlety in this paper, by appropriately assuming a nice analytic region of Maldastam variables and restricting the Maldastam variables to physical region. Neverthe the global smearing kernel eq. (2.27) always works since its construction does not have any subtlety. Thus we would like to think of eq. (2.27) as a definition of a certain S-matrix in terms of a specific CFT correlator, where the underlying CFT theory should be supported with large N limit and large gap Δ_{gap} . The details of the CFT correlator encode the interactions of the corresponding S-matrix, and universal properties of the CFT correlators would also have their landing point in S-matrices. Then we might be able to investigate the novel analytic region by directly studying analytic aspects of eq. (2.27), provided with axioms of CFT e.g., [43]. We leave this interesting question to future research.

3.3 Conformal frame subject to saddle-points

Before we move to other space, we would like to comment on the conformal frame subject to the saddle constraints eq. (3.23), which will benefit following subsections.

The saddle-points only constrain $\cos \tau_{ij}$ by eq. (3.23). We can shift τ_i by the same constant or shift τ_{ij} by 2π without changing the saddle-points and the physics. This reminds us the concept of frame choice. Nevertheless, it is quite trivial to shift a constant, which is nothing but choosing a specific starting time. Much more nontrivially, we notice that eq. (3.23) only establishes a dictionary relating the conformal configurations to scattering kinematics. From point view of scattering process, we are allowed to choose different scattering frames which then have different ($\omega_i, \vec{p_i}$) subject to on-shell condition and the momentum conservation. Constrained by saddle-points eq. (3.23), a choice of scattering frame then corresponds to a choice of conformal frame.

In our choice, we have explicitly

$$P = -\frac{i}{|p|}(m,\omega,i\vec{p}). \qquad (3.41)$$



Figure 9. Without restriction set by saddle-points, any four points of CFT can be brought to above conformal frame. Constrained by saddle-points of points in CFT, only massless or identical massive four-point function can have access to above conformal frame. Figure comes from [44].

The *i* factor in front of spatial momentum \vec{p} somehow wick rotates the spatial momentum to make $(\omega, i\vec{p})$ map precisely to momentum of scattering. Then straightforwardly, the frame choice of *p* leads to the corresponding conformal frame *P*. For instance, we are allowed to take the rest frame where $\vec{p} = 0$ for massive particles, even though *P* seems to divergent, it can be scaled to give $P \sim (1, -1, 0)$, representing the conformal position at ∞ ! Let's consider four-point case with $\Delta_3 = \Delta_2, \Delta_4 = \Delta_1$ to gain more insights about conformal frame constrained by eq. (3.23) and prepare for discussions on the partial-wave expansion in subsection 3.5.

Consider four-point function in a CFT, it is especially useful to use the radial frame (r, θ) (or to write $w = re^{i\theta}$), which makes Caimir easy to keep track of series expansion of conformal block [44] (see figure 9 for illustration)

$$z\bar{z} = \frac{P_{12}P_{34}}{P_{13}P_{24}} = \frac{16r^2}{(1+r^2+2r\cos\theta)^2}, \quad (1-z)(1-\bar{z}) = \frac{P_{14}P_{23}}{P_{13}P_{24}} = \frac{(1+r^2+2r\cos\theta)^2}{(1+r^2-2r\cos\theta)^2}.$$
(3.42)

Constrained by eq. (3.41), only massless scattering and identical massive scattering can have their CFT descriptions within the radial frame. Non-identical particles do not admit the radial frame! It would be very clear to observe these facts by using the center-of-mass frame for scattering amplitudes.

Identical particles. The center-of-mass frame for identical particles is especially simple

$$p_1 = (\omega, p\hat{n}), \quad p_2 = (\omega, -p\hat{n}), \quad p_3 = (-\omega, p\hat{n}'), \quad p_4 = (-\omega, -p\hat{n}').$$
 (3.43)

These kinematic variables (ω, θ) can be related to Maldastam variables

$$\omega = \frac{\sqrt{s}}{2}, \quad \cos \theta = 1 + \frac{2t}{s - 4m^2}.$$
 (3.44)

Correspondingly we have

$$P_{12} = P_{34} = 4, \quad P_{23} = P_{14} = 2\left(\frac{4m^2 + s}{4m^2 - s} + \cos\theta\right), \quad P_{14} = P_{23} = 2\left(\frac{4m^2 + s}{4m^2 - s} - \cos\theta\right).$$
(3.45)

It is not hard to see this configuration allows the radial frame eq. (3.42) by identifying θ to scattering angle and

$$s = \frac{4m^2 \left(r - 1\right)^2}{\left(r + 1\right)^2},$$
(3.46)

where r here can be defined by $r = e^{i\tau_{23}}$. For special case where m = 0, it is obvious $r = -1 = e^{-i\pi}$.

Non-identical particles. If $m_1 \neq m_2$, it is then not possible to use the radial frame eq. (3.42). We can still consider the center-of-mass frame, but now it is a bit more complicated in a sense that there must be different kinematic variables

$$p_1 = (\omega_1, p\hat{n}), \quad p_2 = (\omega_2, -p\hat{n}), \quad p_3 = (-\omega_2, p\hat{n}'), \quad p_4 = (-\omega_1, -p\hat{n}').$$
 (3.47)

Useful kinematic variables now take the form

$$\omega_1 = \frac{s + m_{12}\bar{m}_{12}}{2\sqrt{2}}, \quad \omega_2 = \frac{s - m_{12}\bar{m}_{12}}{2\sqrt{2}}, \quad p = \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\frac{(s - m_{12}^2)(s - \bar{m}_{12}^2)}{s}},$$

$$\cos\theta = 1 + \frac{2st}{(s - m_{12}^2)(s - \bar{m}_{12}^2)}, \quad (3.48)$$

where $m_{12} = m_1 - m_2$ and $\bar{m}_{12} = m_1 + m_2$. There is no way to appropriately define r in terms of above variables to reach eq. (3.42). Nevertheless, we still have access to convenient conformal frame, which is particularly useful for solving conformal block at large conformal dimensions Δ, Δ_i (appendix E) and then analyzing the partial-wave expansion for nonidentical particles (subsection 3.5). We only need to identify θ with scattering angle and then slightly generalize eq. (3.46)

$$s = \frac{\bar{m}_{12}^2 (r-1)^2}{(r+1)^2}, \quad \cos \theta = 1 + \frac{2st}{(s-m_{12}^2)(s-\bar{m}_{12}^2)}.$$
(3.49)

For $m_1 = m_2$, eq. (3.49) reduces to eq. (3.46). In this case we have

$$P_{12} = P_{34} = \frac{4s}{s - m_{12}^2}, \qquad P_{13} = P_{24} = \frac{4s(s + t - m_{12}^2)}{(m_{12}^2 - s)(s - \bar{m}_{12}^2)}, P_{23} = \frac{4s(4m_2^2 - t)}{(m_{12}^2 - s)(s - \bar{m}_{12}^2)}, \qquad P_{14} = \frac{4s(4m_1^2 - t)}{(m_{12}^2 - s)(s - \bar{m}_{12}^2)}.$$
(3.50)

The frame now reads (in terms of (s, t))

$$z\bar{z} = \frac{(s-\bar{m}_{12}^2)^2}{(s+t-\bar{m}_{12}^2)^2}, \quad (1-z)(1-\bar{z}) = \frac{m_{12}^4 + (\bar{m}_{12}^2-t)^2 - 2m_{12}^2(\bar{m}_{12}^2+t)}{(s+t-\bar{m}_{12}^2)^2}.$$
(3.51)

We can use eq. (3.48) and eq. (3.49) to explicitly write eq. (3.51) in terms of r and $\cos \theta$, the final expression cannot be simplified to the radial frame eq. (3.42) unless $m_1 = m_2$.

3.4 From Mellin space to coordinate space

Recently, [16] proposed two conjectures for the (massive) flat-space limit in coordinate space, as we reviewed in subsection 3.1, see eqs. (3.5) and (3.6). The key point is the kinematic identification (3.27) that we derived. We could now find a way to derive the flat-space limit in coordinate space by using the inverse Mellin formula (3.40). The idea is to start from Mellin representation of *n*-point function in CFT (3.10) subject to kinematic identification (3.24) and $\hat{r} = \hat{p}$, and work out the integral by picking up the saddle-points $\sigma_{ij} = \beta_i \beta_j \tilde{P}_{ij}$, which can establish a formula relating CFT *n*-point function to Mellin amplitudes specified to those saddle-points. Next, we use the inverse Mellin formula (3.40) to produce the formula directly relating *n*-point function in coordinate space to flat-space scattering amplitudes or S-matrix.

Let us start with (3.35) and specify to saddle-points, we now have

$$\left\langle \mathcal{O}_{1}\cdots\mathcal{O}_{n}\right\rangle = \frac{\mathcal{N}}{\left(2\pi i\right)^{\frac{n(n-3)}{2}}} \int d\beta \,\mathcal{D}\left(s_{ij},\beta\right) e^{S\left(0,\delta s_{ij},\beta\right)} M\left(\delta_{ij} = \frac{\ell^{2}\beta^{2}}{2\Delta_{\Sigma}} \left(s_{ij} - (m_{i} + m_{j})^{2}\right)\right),$$
(3.52)

where we keep δs_{ij} nonzero up to sub-leading order to regulate the integral. We will see later that this regulation is exactly corresponding to bulk-point singularity [15]. Using (3.40) yields

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_1 \cdots \mathcal{O}_n \rangle = \frac{\mathcal{N}\mathcal{N}_T}{(2\pi i)^{\frac{n(n-3)}{2}}} \int d\beta \, \mathcal{D}\left(s_{ij},\beta\right) e^{S(0,\delta s_{ij},\beta)} \int d\gamma e^{-\gamma} \gamma^{\frac{\Delta_{\Sigma}-d}{2}-1} \\ \times T\left(\frac{2\gamma\beta^2}{\Delta_{\Sigma}} \left(-s_{ij} + (m_i + m_j)^2\right) + (m_i + m_j)^2\right).$$
(3.53)

We shall explain in details on this formula for massive case and massless case separately.

3.4.1 All massless particles: bulk-point singularity

For all external particles are massless, we have

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_1 \cdots \mathcal{O}_n \rangle = \frac{\mathcal{N}\mathcal{N}_T}{(2\pi i)^{\frac{n(n-3)}{2}}} \int d\beta \,\mathcal{D}\left(s_{ij},\beta\right) e^{S(0,\delta s_{ij},\beta)} \int d\gamma e^{-\gamma} \gamma^{\frac{\Delta_{\Sigma} - d}{2} - 1} \\ \times T\left(-\frac{2\gamma\beta^2}{\Delta_{\Sigma}}s_{ij}\right).$$

$$(3.54)$$

We can redefine γ by

$$\tilde{\gamma} = -\frac{2\gamma\beta^2}{\Delta_{\Sigma}} s_{12} \,, \tag{3.55}$$

which gives

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_1 \cdots \mathcal{O}_n \rangle = \frac{\mathcal{N}\mathcal{N}_T}{(2\pi i)^{\frac{n(n-3)}{2}}} \int d\tilde{\gamma} \int d\beta \, \mathcal{D}\left(s_{ij},\beta\right) e^{S(0,\delta s_{ij},\beta) + \frac{\Delta_{\Sigma}\tilde{\gamma}}{2\beta^2 s_{12}}} \left(-\frac{\Delta_{\Sigma}}{2\beta^2 s_{12}}\right)^{\frac{\Delta_{\Sigma}-d}{2}} \\ \times \tilde{\gamma}^{\frac{\Delta_{\Sigma}-d}{2} - 1} T\left(\tilde{\gamma}, \frac{s_{ij}}{s_{12}}\right) .$$

$$(3.56)$$

Now $\tilde{\gamma}$ in the amplitudes play exactly the role as scattering energy s. From appendix C, we have

$$\mathcal{D}(s_{ij},\beta) = (-1)^{\frac{1}{4}n(n+1)} \left(\frac{\ell^2}{2\Delta_{\Sigma}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}\Delta_{\Sigma}} (2\pi)^{\frac{1}{2}n(n-1)} \beta^{\Delta_{\Sigma}-n} \prod_{i} \omega_i^{\Delta_i} \sqrt{\frac{(2\pi)^{n+1}}{\det A_{\beta}}},$$
$$S(0,\delta s_{ij},\beta) = -\frac{\ell^2 \beta^2}{2\Delta_{\Sigma}} \left(\sum_{i} \omega_i \delta \tau_i\right)^2,$$
(3.57)

where A_{β} can be found in eq. (C.9). We can integrate out β to have a Bessel function. We obtain

$$\left\langle \mathcal{O}_{1}\cdots\mathcal{O}_{n}\right\rangle = \frac{\mathcal{N}\mathcal{N}_{T}}{\left(2\pi i\right)^{\frac{n(n-3)}{2}}} \int d\tilde{\gamma} D\left(s_{ij},\omega_{i}\right)\delta^{\frac{1}{2}(n-d-1)} \left(\frac{i\ell\sqrt{\tilde{\gamma}}}{\sqrt{s_{12}}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}(1+d-n)+\Delta_{\Sigma}-d-2} \times K_{\frac{d+1-n}{2}} \left(\frac{i\ell\sqrt{\tilde{\gamma}}\delta}{\sqrt{s_{12}}}\right) T\left(\tilde{\gamma},\frac{s_{ij}}{s_{12}}\right),$$

$$(3.58)$$

where

$$D(s_{ij},\omega_i) = \frac{(-1)^{\frac{1}{4}(n^2+n+2)}2^{\frac{1}{2}((n^2-3n-2)+d-\Delta_{\Sigma})}\Delta_{\Sigma}^{\frac{1-n}{2}}\ell^{n+1}\pi^{\frac{1}{2}(n^2-3n-2)}}{s_{12}}\prod_i\omega_i^{\Delta_i}\sqrt{\frac{(2\pi)^{n+1}}{\det A_{\beta}}}.$$
(3.59)

Note we use a shorthand notation $\delta = \sum_i \omega_i \delta \tau_i$. Taking n = 4, above formula reduces to known massless flat-space limit formula first proposed in [12]. More specifically, we can neaten up eq. (3.58)

$$\left\langle \mathcal{O}_{1}\cdots\mathcal{O}_{4}\right\rangle =\prod_{i=1}^{4}\frac{\mathcal{C}_{\Delta_{i}}}{\Gamma\left(\Delta_{i}\right)}\frac{i\pi^{\frac{d+3}{2}}\ell^{\Delta_{\Sigma}-\frac{3}{2}(d-1)}}{2^{\Delta_{\Sigma}+1}}\int ds\left(\frac{i\sqrt{s}}{2}\right)^{\Delta_{\Sigma}-\frac{d+7}{2}}\epsilon^{\frac{3-d}{2}}K_{\frac{d-3}{2}}\left(i\ell\sqrt{s}\epsilon\right)\frac{iT\left(s,\theta\right)}{|\sin\theta|},$$

$$(3.60)$$

where $\epsilon = \delta/\sqrt{s_{12}}$. We use the standard notation for scattering energy i.e., $s = \tilde{\gamma}$, and θ is the scattering angle $\cos \theta = 1 + 2t/s$. We can see eq. (3.60) precisely give eq. (3.3) that is proposed in [12], provided with $i\epsilon = \xi$ and eq. (3.45) (where m = 0). The same formula was also understood as bulk-point singularity in CFT [15], because integrating over $\tilde{\gamma}$ leads to divergence in $\delta = 0$, and this is also the reason we keep $\delta \neq 0$ to regulate the answer. In terms of cross-ratio (z, \bar{z}) , the singularity $\epsilon \to 0$ is actually $z - \bar{z}^{\bigcirc} \to 0$ where \bigcirc represents the analytic continuation which is automatically done in our discussion.

3.4.2 Include massive particles

As we explain in the previous subsection, if at least one external particle is massive, β and γ pick their saddle-points up

$$\beta^* = i \,, \quad \gamma^* = \frac{\Delta_{\Sigma}}{2} \,. \tag{3.61}$$



Figure 10. The contact Witten diagram. The dots represents other legs.

So the formula (3.53) simply becomes

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_1 \cdots \mathcal{O}_n \rangle = \frac{\mathcal{N}\ell^{\frac{n(1-d)}{2}+d+1}}{(2\pi i)^{\frac{n(n-3)}{2}}} \mathcal{F}(s_{ij})T(s_{ij}), \qquad (3.62)$$

where $\mathcal{F}(s_{ij})$ is the determinant factor and the rest exponents from picking up saddle-points of β and γ

$$\mathcal{F} = (-1)^{\frac{1}{4}n(n+1)} \left(\frac{\ell^2}{2\Delta_{\Sigma}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}\Delta_{\Sigma}} (2\pi)^{\frac{1}{2}(n^2 - 3n - 2)} \prod_i |p_i|^{\Delta_i} i^{\Delta_{\Sigma} - n} e^{-\frac{1}{2}\Delta_{\Sigma}} \sqrt{\frac{(2\pi)^n}{\det(A_{ij})}} \Big|_{\beta=i}, \quad (3.63)$$

Let us explain this factor $\mathcal{F}(s_{ij})$ together with the normalization. Assume we consider the simplest contact interaction with no any derivatives

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{int}} = \phi_1 \phi_2 \cdots \phi_n \,. \tag{3.64}$$

This contact interaction is illustrated using Witten diagram in figure 10. In flat-space, this kind of contact interaction simply gives $T(s_{ij}) = 1$, which indicates that the factor $\mathcal{F}(s_{ij})$ is nothing more than contact Witten diagram at large AdS radius limit $\ell \to \infty$. This fact was verified for n = 4 identical particles in [16] and for non-identical particles in appendix D. Now we can see that the formula (3.62) is exactly the amplitudes conjecture of the flat-space limit in coordinate space [16]. Moreover, [16] shows that the contact Witten diagram can actually give rise to momentum conservation delta function, see also appendix D for a more general case. Since the contact Witten diagram can be understood as delta function of momentum conservation, multiplying it with amplitudes will then be interpreted as S-matrix which equates CFT correlator.

3.5 From coordinate space to partial-waves

To consider partial-waves, we focus on four-point amplitudes. It is natural to start with the flat-space limit in the coordinate space and then expand CFT and amplitudes in terms of conformal blocks and partial-waves respectively. As consequence, a dictionary map between phase-shift and the OPE coefficients (together with anomalous dimensions) can be established. At tree-level, such a dictionary relates the partial-wave amplitudes to the anomalous-dimensions at leading order. Represented by partial-waves, the massless scattering and massive scattering is sharply distinguished. The origin of this sharp difference results from the spectra of exchanged operators in four-point function of a CFT $\langle \mathcal{O}_1 \mathcal{O}_2 \mathcal{O}_2 \mathcal{O}_1 \rangle$, which can be approximately represented as the double-twist family [45]

$$[\mathcal{O}_1\mathcal{O}_2]_{n,J} = \mathcal{O}_1\partial^{2n}\partial_{\mu_1}\cdots\partial_{\mu_J}\mathcal{O}_2\,,\quad \Delta = \Delta_1 + \Delta_2 + J + 2n + \gamma_{n,J}\,,\tag{3.65}$$

where $\gamma_{n,J}$ is the anomalous dimension. For external massless particles where $\Delta_1 \sim \Delta_2 \sim \mathcal{O}(1)$, the four-point function is dominated by massive exchanged particles $\Delta \sim 2n \to \infty$, effectively making *n* continuous. On the other hand, for massive \mathcal{O}_1 or \mathcal{O}_2 , double-twist dimension Δ is already large, and thus we should include all integer *n*.

We will need the conformal block in a limit that the exchanged operator is heavy, i.e., large Δ limit [46]

$$G_{\Delta,J}(r,\theta)|_{\Delta\to\infty} = \frac{J!}{(d-2)_J} \frac{(4r)^{\Delta} C_J^{\frac{d}{2}-1}(\cos\theta)}{(1-r^2)^{\frac{d}{2}-1}\sqrt{(1+r^2)^2 - 4r^2\cos^2\theta}} \,. \tag{3.66}$$

Nonetheless, we should not take eq. (3.66) for granted. This conformal block eq. (3.66) assumes $\Delta_i \ll \Delta$ and thus is only applicable for massless scattering in principle. For massive scattering, we have additional large parameters $\Delta_i \sim \Delta$, which may modify eq. (3.66). Fortunately, as we will see in appendix E, only Δ_{12} can appear in the Casimir equation eq. (E.2). Thus eq. (3.66) is still valid for identical masses. [16] considers identical particles and apply eq. (3.66) to study partial-wave/phase-shift formula. A worse situation is the scattering with non-identical massive particles, where a standard (r, θ) frame breaks down, thus we have to be careful about the conformal block eq. (3.66). In appendix E, we focus on non-identical operators and adopt a new conformal frame (see eq. (E.4)) which reduces to eq. (3.49) and (3.51) when $\Delta = \sqrt{s\ell}$. We solve the conformal block, and surprisingly, the expression eq. (3.66) is still valid, but with slightly modified normalization and (r, θ) defined differently!

The dictionary are nicely presented in the literature for both massless amplitudes and massive amplitudes, here we will derive them in a hopefully original way.

3.5.1 Massless phase-shift

For massless case, the conformal block eq. (3.66) can be further modified. Notice there is bulk-point singularity $\epsilon \to 0$ (according to eq. (3.45), we should then have $r = e^{-i\epsilon - i\pi}$), which could be served as UV cut-off of spectrum Δ . Thus a more physical limit is taking $\Delta \to \infty, r \to 1$ but keeping $\Delta \epsilon$ fixed. The conformal block with this limit (analytically continued to Lorentzian signature) is [15]

$$G_{\Delta,J}(e^{-i\epsilon - i\pi}, \theta) = \frac{2^{\frac{1-d}{2} + 2\Delta} J! e^{-i\pi\Delta}}{\sqrt{\pi} (d-2)_J} \sqrt{\Delta} (i\epsilon)^{\frac{3-d}{2}} K_{\frac{d-3}{2}}(i\Delta\epsilon) \frac{C_J^{\frac{d}{2} - 1}(\cos\theta)}{|\sin\theta|} \,. \tag{3.67}$$

The four-point function can be expanded in terms of this conformal block, namely

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_1 \cdots \mathcal{O}_4 \rangle_c = 4^{-(\Delta_1 + \Delta_2)} \sum_{n,J} a_{n,J} G_{\Delta,J}(e^{-i\epsilon - i\pi}, \theta) .$$
 (3.68)

On the other hand, the amplitudes T can take the partial-wave expansion

$$T = \sum_{J} \frac{2^{d+1}(2J+d-2)\pi^{\frac{d-1}{2}}\Gamma(d-2)}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}(d-1))} \frac{1}{s^{\frac{d-3}{2}}} a_{J} C_{J}^{\frac{d}{2}-1}(\cos\theta), \quad a_{J} = i(1-e^{2i\delta_{J}}), \quad (3.69)$$

where a_J is called the partial-wave amplitudes and δ_J is the scattering phase-shift. Comparing eq. (3.60) with the conformal block expansion eq. (3.68), it is not hard to find perfect match with the following dictionary, which is expected to be valid to any loop order and even nonperturbatively [36]

$$e^{-i\pi\gamma_{n,J}} \frac{c_{n,J}}{c_{n,J}^{(0)}}\Big|_{n\to\infty} = e^{2i\delta_J}, \quad 4n^2 = \ell^2 s,$$
 (3.70)

where $c_{n,J}^{(0)}$ is the OPE coefficients in MFT that can sum to disconnected contribution [45]

$$c_{n,J}^{(0)} = \frac{\sqrt{\pi}(d+2J-2)\Gamma(d+J-2)2^{-d+3}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\right)\Gamma(J+1)\Gamma(n+1)\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}+J+n\right)}$$

$$\times \frac{\left(-\frac{d}{2}+\Delta_{1}+1\right)_{n}\left(-\frac{d}{2}+\Delta_{2}+1\right)_{n}(\Delta_{1})_{J+n}(\Delta_{2})_{J+n}}{\left(-d+n+\Delta_{1}+\Delta_{2}+1\right)_{n}(J+2n+\Delta_{1}+\Delta_{2}-1)_{J}\left(-\frac{d}{2}+J+n+\Delta_{1}+\Delta_{2}\right)_{n}}.$$
(3.71)

At tree-level (i.e, $1/N^2$ order), it reduces to a more familiar formula $\gamma_{n,J}|_{n\to\infty} = -1/\pi a_J$ [15], which is verified to be valid even for gluons [34].

3.5.2 Massive phase-shift

We work with n = 4 for eq. (3.62)

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_{1} \cdots \mathcal{O}_{4} \rangle_{c} = \mathcal{N} \frac{2^{\frac{3}{2} - 4\bar{\Delta}_{12}} \ell^{1 - d + \bar{\Delta}_{12}} \pi^{\frac{d}{2} + 1} e^{-\bar{\Delta}_{12} + i\pi\bar{\Delta}_{12}} \bar{m}_{12}^{1 - \bar{\Delta}_{12}} (s - m_{12}^{2})^{\bar{\Delta}_{12}} (s - \bar{m}_{12}^{2})^{\bar{\Delta}_{12}}}{\sqrt{(s - \bar{m}_{12}^{2})(4m_{1}m_{2} - t)(s + t - m_{12}^{2})}} \times iT(s, t) \,. \tag{3.72}$$

Similar to massless scattering, we should then do conformal block and partial-wave expansion. The partial-wave expansion of amplitudes is rather straightforward, slightly generalizing eq. (3.69) to account for massive phase-space volume (see appendix D)

$$T = \sum_{J} \frac{2^{d+1}(2J+d-2)\pi^{\frac{d-1}{2}}\Gamma(d-2)}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}(d-1))} \frac{s^{\frac{d-1}{2}}}{(s-m_{12}^2)^{\frac{d-2}{2}}(s-\bar{m}_{12}^2)^{\frac{d-2}{2}}} a_J C_J^{\frac{d}{2}-1}(\cos\theta) , \quad (3.73)$$

On the other hand, expanding the conformal correlator in terms of conformal block is a bit technically subtle. We use the conformal block eq. (E.9) we solve in appendix E. Carefully include all relevant factor, we have conformal block expansion

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_{1} \cdots \mathcal{O}_{4} \rangle = \frac{\left(s - m_{12}^{2}\right)^{\Delta_{12}} \left(s + t - m_{12}^{2}\right)^{\Delta_{12}}}{4^{\bar{\Delta}_{12}} s^{\bar{\Delta}_{12}} \left(4m_{1}^{2} - t\right)^{\Delta_{12}}} \\ \times \sum_{\Delta,J} c_{\Delta,J} \left(\frac{m_{12}^{2} \left(1 + r_{\Delta}^{2} + 2r_{\Delta}\eta_{\Delta}\right) + m^{2} \left(1 + r_{\Delta}^{2} - 2r_{\Delta}\eta_{\Delta}\right) + 2m_{12}m \left(1 - r_{\Delta}^{2}\right)}{\left(m^{2} - m_{12}^{2} \left(1 + r_{\Delta}^{2} + 2r_{\Delta}\eta_{\Delta}\right)^{2}\right)}\right)^{\frac{\Delta_{12}}{2}} \\ \times g_{\Delta,J} \left(r_{\Delta}, \eta_{\Delta}\right) ,$$

$$(3.74)$$

1

where $(r_{\Delta}, \eta_{\Delta})$ is defined by (w, \bar{w}) in eq. (E.4). We emphasize here that $(r_{\Delta}, \eta_{\Delta})$ is not $(r, \eta = \cos \theta)$ defined via (s, t) in eq. (3.49). They only match when $\Delta = \sqrt{s\ell}$. More general, when Δ deviates from $\sqrt{s\ell}$, we find

$$r_{\Delta} = \frac{\bar{m}_{12} - \sqrt{s}}{\bar{m}_{12} + \sqrt{s}} - \frac{2m_{12}^2 \bar{m}_{12} (\bar{m}_{12} - \sqrt{s})}{(\sqrt{s} + \bar{m}_{12})(\bar{m}_{12}^2 (m_{12}^2 - s) + st)} \delta + \cdots,$$

$$\eta_{\Delta} = \frac{s(\bar{m}_{12}^2 - s - 2t) + m_{12}^2 (s - \bar{m}_{12}^2)}{(m_{12}^2 - s)(s - \bar{m}_{12}^2)} + \frac{4m_{12}^2 \sqrt{st}(m_{12}^2 (s - \bar{m}_{12}^2) - s(-\bar{m}_{12}^2 + s + t))}{(m_{12}^2 - s)^2 (s - \bar{m}_{12}^2)(s(t - \bar{m}_{12}^2) + m_{12}^2 \bar{m}_{12}^2)} \delta + \cdots,$$
(3.75)

where $\delta = m - \sqrt{s}$. On the other hand, we can factorize MFT OPE $c_{\Delta,J}^{(0)}$ out, which exponentiates

$$c_{\Delta,J}^{(0)} = \frac{2^{d+2}\ell^{-\frac{d}{2}}(d+2J-2)\Gamma(d+J-2)}{\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma(\frac{d-1}{2})\Gamma(J+1)} m^{\frac{3d}{2}-2\Delta}(m-m_{12})^{\Delta-\Delta_{12}-\frac{d}{2}}(m+m_{12})^{\Delta+\Delta_{12}-\frac{d}{2}} \times (m-\bar{m}_{12})^{\bar{\Delta}_{12}-\Delta-\frac{d}{2}}(\bar{m}_{12}+m)^{\bar{\Delta}_{12}+\Delta-\frac{3d}{2}}(\bar{m}_{12}-m_{12})^{2\Delta_{2}+\frac{d}{2}}(\bar{m}_{12}+m_{12})^{\frac{d}{2}-2\Delta_{1}}.$$
(3.76)

We assume $c_{\Delta,J}/c_{\Delta,J}^{(0)}$ does not have further exponentially large factor, then we can use this MFT OPE and single out Δ dependence of $(r_{\Delta}, \eta_{\Delta})$ (i.e., use eq. (3.75)) to estimate the weighted sum of eq. (3.74). ultimately, we find an exponential factor

$$\mathcal{E}_{\delta} = \exp\left[-\frac{\ell\delta^2 s\bar{m}_{12} \left(-\bar{m}_{12}^2 + m_{12}^2 + t\right)}{\left(\bar{m}_{12} - \sqrt{s}\right) \left(\bar{m}_{12} + \sqrt{s}\right) \left(s \left(\bar{m}_{12}^2 - t\right) - m_{12}^2 \bar{m}_{12}^2\right)}\right].$$
(3.77)

The appearance of this exponential factor extends the finding in [16] to non-identical particles. This exponential factor decays if $\Delta - \sqrt{s\ell}$ is large enough to go beyond $\mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\ell})$, which then effectively creates a spectra window together with additional factor that measures the width of the Gaussian distribution

$$\sum_{\Delta,J} (\cdots) \mathcal{E}_{\delta} \simeq \sum_{J} \frac{1}{N_{J}} \sum_{|\Delta - \sqrt{s}\ell| < \delta E} (\cdots) \times \left(\frac{\pi \ell \left(\bar{m}_{12} - \sqrt{s} \right) \left(\bar{m}_{12} + \sqrt{s} \right) \left(s \left(\bar{m}_{12}^{2} - t \right) - m_{12}^{2} \bar{m}_{12}^{2} \right)}{s \bar{m}_{12} \left(- \bar{m}_{12}^{2} + m_{12}^{2} + t \right)} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}},$$
(3.78)

where $\delta E \preceq \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\ell})$. Usually, include the exponential Gaussian factor, we could ignore the sum or integral and evaluate everything at the origin of Gaussian distribution multiplied by Gaussian width factor. However, we will see (\cdots) contains phase factor $e^{-i\pi\Delta}$ which is then sensitive to finite change of Δ . Thus we keep the sum here but now the sum runs over a small window. $1/N_J$ appears to compensate for the remained sum and keep the normalization. The form of this window sum is exactly the one in [17]. Gather all factors, we find

$$\frac{\langle \mathcal{O}_1 \cdots \mathcal{O}_4 \rangle}{D_c} = -i \sum_J \frac{1}{N_J} \sum_{|\Delta - \sqrt{s\ell}| < \delta E} e^{-i\pi(\Delta - \Delta_1 - \Delta_2)} \frac{c_{\Delta,J}}{c_{\Delta,J}^{(0)}} \times \frac{2^{d+1}(2J + d - 2)\pi^{\frac{d-1}{2}}\Gamma(d - 2)}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}(d - 1))} \times \frac{s^{\frac{d-1}{2}}}{(s - m_{12}^2)^{\frac{d-2}{2}}(s - \bar{m}_{12}^2)^{\frac{d-2}{2}}} C_J^{\frac{d}{2} - 1}(\eta), \qquad (3.79)$$

where

$$D_c = i\mathcal{N} \frac{2^{\frac{3}{2} - 4\bar{\Delta}_{12}} \ell^{1 - d + \bar{\Delta}_{12}} \pi^{\frac{d}{2} + 1} e^{-\bar{\Delta}_{12}} \bar{m}_{12}^{1 - \bar{\Delta}_{12}} (s - m_{12}^2)^{\bar{\Delta}_{12}} (s - \bar{m}_{12}^2)^{\bar{\Delta}_{12}}}{\sqrt{(s - \bar{m}_{12}^2)(4m_1m_2 - t)(s + t - m_{12}^2)}} .$$
 (3.80)

Use eq. (3.72) (subtract the MFT part) and compare to eq. (3.73), we conclude

$$e^{2i\delta_J} = \frac{1}{N_J} \sum_{|\Delta - \sqrt{s}\ell| < \delta E} e^{-i\pi(\Delta - \Delta_1 - \Delta_2)} \frac{c_{\Delta,J}}{c_{\Delta,J}^{(0)}}.$$
(3.81)

For MFT, we can estimate N_J

$$N_J \simeq 2\delta E \,, \tag{3.82}$$

which is also consistent with what found in [16]. It is pointed out that there are some bound states below $\Delta = \Delta_1 + \Delta_2$, we refer [16] for more discussions.

4 Momentum-coordinate duality

The last section is devoted to discussions of variants stemming from the global scattering smearing. In addition to those flat-space limits discussed in the last section, we can also construct the flat-space amplitudes from momentum space of a CFT, as originally suggested by [18]. The origin of this momentum space prescription is Poincare AdS reconstruction. Naturally, we should ask, can we also establish connections between global scattering smearing and Poincare scattering smearing?

The answer is positive. Intuitively, when the AdS radius is large enough, the wave packets propagate freely in the bulk until they scatter through each other around a bulk region which is extremely local compared to the AdS radius. This region is where the flat-space S-matrix can be defined and we may call it the scattering region [47]. Physically, the scattering smearing kernel describes the bulk reconstruction of scattering region. The scattering region we are going to reconstruct must fall in one subregion A of AdS, then according to the subregion duality, this scattering region can be reconstructed from smearing over the subregion of boundary A_b spanned by A. For example, applying to one Poincare patch, we can reconstruct any scattering region inside the patch by the full M^d plane (which can be wick rotated to \mathbb{R}^d), which is exactly what we find in eq. (2.45): reconstruct the scattering in terms of the CFT correlator in the momentum space. Meanwhile, it is also possible to find another AdS subregion B which has overlap with A, and the overlap includes the same scattering region. If B's spanned boundary region B_b is different from A_b , then we can reconstruct the same S-matrix by two different CFT prescriptions. In a very robust way, since the S-matrix is the same one defined in the same scattering region, the two prescriptions of CFT correlators should be identified.

A bit trivial use of the idea suggested by subregion duality described above is to take A a certain Poincare patch and B the global AdS, as we study in this paper. Then we should

$$M^d \xrightarrow{\text{wick rotation}} R^d \xrightarrow{\text{conformal}} R \times S^{d-1} \xrightarrow{\text{wick rotation}} \text{Lorentzian } R \times S^{d-1}$$

Figure 11. The analytic operations taking CFT on M^d to CFT on Lorentzian $R \times S^{d-1}$.

be able to equate the global scattering smearing and Poincare scattering smearing, giving

$$\left(\prod_{i} \sqrt{k_{id}} |\mathbf{k}_{i}|^{\Delta_{i} - \frac{d}{2}} e^{-i\tilde{\alpha}_{k_{id}}}\right) \langle \mathcal{O}_{1} (\omega_{1}\ell, \mathbf{k}_{1}\ell) \cdots \mathcal{O}_{n} (\omega_{n}\ell, \mathbf{k}_{n}\ell) \rangle_{L}
= \int \left(\prod_{i} d\tau_{i} e^{i\omega_{i}\tau_{i}\ell} \ell^{-\frac{d-1}{2}} \xi_{\omega_{i}\Delta_{i}} |\vec{p}_{i}|^{1-\Delta_{i}} 2^{\frac{d}{2}-1} \pi^{\frac{d-1}{2}}\right) \langle \mathcal{O}_{1} (\tau_{1}, \hat{p}_{1}) \cdots \mathcal{O}_{n} (\tau_{n}, \hat{p}_{n}) \rangle, \quad (4.1)$$

where we eliminate Gamma functions by assuming large Δ_i . For those finite Δ_i , the normalization depending on only Gamma functions can be easily restored. This equation (4.1) establishes a relation representing the Lorentzian CFT in the momentum space (with large momentum) by the CFT on Lorentzian $R \times S^{d-1}$. We call this relation the momentumcoordinate duality of a CFT. Such a duality is highly nontrivial, it connects two very different space of CFT, which can not be simply transformed via conformal map but via tricky operations as shown in figure 11.

However, the momentum space in the Lorentzian signature is quite hard to keep track of, thus we may use a mild version of momentum-coordinate duality, starting with the middle of figure 11 where the momentum space is already analytically continued to Euclidean space

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_1(p_1\ell)\cdots\mathcal{O}_n(p_n\ell)\rangle_E = \int \left(\prod_i d\tau_i e^{i\omega_i\tau_i\ell} \ell^{-\frac{d-1}{2}} \frac{\xi_{\omega_i\Delta_i}|\vec{p_i}|^{1+\frac{d}{2}}}{\sqrt{\omega_i}} e^{i\tilde{\alpha}_{\omega_i}} 2^{\frac{d}{2}-1} \pi^{\frac{d-1}{2}}\right) \\ \times \langle \mathcal{O}_1(\tau_1,\hat{p}_1)\cdots\mathcal{O}_n(\tau_n,\hat{p}_n)\rangle.$$

$$(4.2)$$

How is this momentum-coordinate duality possible? Note that the momentum of CFT is parametrically large, scaling as ℓ . This fact implies that the Fourier-transform can be approximately evaluated by some saddle-points. Let's play with single Fourier transform of one operator

$$\int d^d X e^{ip \cdot X\ell} \mathcal{O}_{\text{flat}}(X) \,. \tag{4.3}$$

To make contact with l.h.s. of eq, (4.2), we make a conformal transformation, mapping $\mathcal{O}_{\text{flat}}$ to \mathcal{O}_{cvl} (see [48] eq. (93) for this map)

$$\int d^{d}X e^{ip \cdot X\ell} \mathcal{O}_{\text{flat}}(X) \to \int d\tau d\Omega_{d-1} e^{-i\ell p e^{\tau} \Omega_{p} \cdot \Omega - (\Delta - d)\tau} \mathcal{O}_{\text{cyl}}(\tau, \hat{n}), \qquad (4.4)$$

where we have used

$$r = \sqrt{X^2} = e^{\tau} \,. \tag{4.5}$$

Then we just wick rotate $\tau \to i\tau$ and play with

$$\int d\tau d\Omega_{d-1} e^{i\ell p e^{i\tau}\Omega_p \cdot \Omega - i(\Delta - d)\tau} \mathcal{O}(\tau, \hat{n}) \,. \tag{4.6}$$

Since it is not possible for CFT correlators to develop exponentially growing factors of \hat{n} , we can then approximate the integral of Ω_{d-1} by the saddle-points of \hat{n} in the Fourier factor. The saddle-points are precisely those directions along the momentum, i.e., $\hat{n} = \hat{p}$!

$$\int d\tau d\Omega_{d-1} e^{i\ell p e^{i\tau}\Omega_p \cdot \Omega - i(\Delta - d)\tau} \mathcal{O}\left(\tau, \hat{n}\right) = \int d\tau \left(\frac{2\pi}{p\ell}\right)^{\frac{d-1}{2}} e^{i\ell p e^{-i\tau} - i(\Delta - \frac{1}{2})\tau} \mathcal{O}(\tau, \hat{p}) \,. \tag{4.7}$$

It comes close to the l.h.s. of eq. (4.2), but we still have to figure out how Fourier factor depending on τ can be identical. Note the extremum of the remaining exponents in eq. (4.7) is not giving the correct saddle-points of τ , because CFT correlators develop further exponential growing terms involving τ . As we show in the last section 3, the global smearing kernel is not the end of the story, the τ integral can actually be dominated by saddle-points eq. (3.24). We can see, if we use eq. (4.7) rather than the global smearing kernel eq. (2.28), we only need to slightly change the first line of eq. (3.22)

$$-\sum_{i\neq k}\frac{\beta_i\beta_k}{m_{\Sigma}}\sin\tau_{ik}|p_i||p_k| + i(e^{-i\tau_i}p - m\tau_i) = 0, \qquad (4.8)$$

which gives rise to the exactly same saddle-points eq. (3.24)! Thus we can simply estimate $e^{-i\tau}$ around these saddle-points just for showing eq. (4.7) can be identified to global smearing,

$$e^{i\tau} \simeq e^{i\tau^*} (1 + i(\tau - \tau^*)).$$
 (4.9)

Picking up the linear τ term, it explicitly gives

$$\exp[i\ell p e^{i\tau^*} - i\Delta\tau^*] = e^{i\omega\tau}.$$
(4.10)

Other terms with τ^* simply gives

$$\xi_{\omega,\Delta} e^{i\tilde{\alpha}_{\omega}} , \qquad (4.11)$$

both giving rise to ξ factor and cancelling $e^{-i\tilde{\alpha}_{\omega}}$. Till now we basically show

$$\int d^d X e^{ip \cdot X\ell} \mathcal{O}_{\text{flat}}(X) \sim \int d\tau e^{i\omega\tau} \mathcal{O}(\tau, \hat{p}) \,. \tag{4.12}$$

However, we have to note that using the described trick is not possible to exactly determine the correct normalization, because we partially use the saddle-points approximation, which completely ruin the information of normalization.³ Nevertheless, as the form $e^{i\omega\tau}$ is established, we can easily normalize it as shown in appendix B.

As summary, we use the notation of subregion duality to relate the global scattering smearing and Poincare scattering smearing, which indicates the momentum-coordinate duality. Although the examples of global AdS and Poincare AdS are a bit trivial, this notion of duality has its potential to be more general. The scattering region, as shown

³One can convince himself about this fact by a simple example $\int dx e^{\ell a^3 \log x - 1/3\ell x^3} f(x)$ where f(x) has no large exponential terms. If we directly evaluate it by saddle-point approach, we obtain $\sqrt{2\pi/(3\ell)}a^{a^3\ell-1/2}e^{-a^3\ell/3}f(a)$. However, if we first linearize $\log x$ around x = a, and then evaluate the integral using saddle-point, we find $\sqrt{\pi/\ell}a^{a^3\ell-1/2}e^{-a^3\ell/3}f(a)$, which is basically the same answer but losing a numerical factor of normalization $\sqrt{2/3}$.

in [47] recently, must lie in the connected entanglement wedge of boundary subregion where CFT correlators are defined. We may find different entanglement wedges contain the same scattering region, and then it is possible to connect different CFT prescriptions by saddle-points approximation. We leave this idea for future work.

5 Fun with spinning flat-space limit

In this section, we aim to gain some insights about the flat-space limit for spinning operators/particles. We do not have a much rigorous way to present a convincing formula for flat-space limit of spinning operators, but it is quite natural to state that the saddlepoints of embedding coordinate should not change even for spinning particles. A new building block for spinning operators is the embedding polarization Z, which is subject to null conditions

$$Z^2 = 0, \quad Z \cdot P = 0, \tag{5.1}$$

and the redundancy $Z \simeq Z + \#P$. Constrained by these conditions, we conjecture the following parameterization

$$P = -\frac{i}{|p|} (m, \omega, i\vec{p}) , \quad Z = \left(\frac{\vec{p} \cdot \vec{\epsilon}}{\omega - m}, \frac{\vec{p} \cdot \vec{\epsilon}}{\omega - m}, i\vec{\epsilon}\right) , \quad (5.2)$$

where $\vec{\epsilon}$ represents the spatial polarization and is null $\vec{\epsilon} \cdot \vec{\epsilon} = 0$. Since we have no way to fix appropriate overall factor for Z, we will not give ourselves a hard time on normalization throughout this section. Not exactly similar to P where $(\omega, i\vec{p})$ in P is the wick rotated momentum p, $(\vec{p} \cdot \vec{\epsilon}/(\omega - m), i\vec{\epsilon})$ in Z is not the wick rotated polarization ϵ except for massless case.

We will play with photon-photon-massive three-point function $\langle VVO \rangle$ using eq. (5.2). We will verify that the flat-space limit indeed gives rise to correct three-point amplitudes in QFT.

In [34], the authors construct the helicity basis for d = 3 CFT. The helicity basis resembles the helicity states in QFT and is found to diagonalize three-point pairing, shadow matrix, OPE matrix and parity-conserving anomalous dimensions of gluon scattering at tree level, where the partial-wave expansion is also found to satisfy bulk-point phase-shift formula eq. (3.70) compared to flat-space gluon amplitudes [34]. It is then of interest to ask: does three-point function in helicity basis already match with three-point amplitude?

The construction of helicity basis starts with working in the conformal frame $(0, x, \infty)$ and then Fourier-transform x to p, though the concept of helicity is naturally conformal invariant [34]. The trick is to use SO(2) which stablize p to label the helicity, separating the indices that are perpendicular or along p. The constructed structure is then automatically orthogonal with respect to contracting p. As discussed in [34], this trick is easily to extend to higher dimensions, where one organize the structures by SO(d-1) subgroup that fixes p. One can perform the dimension reduction of SO(d) group to SO(d-1), which lists perpendicular indices J' < J for spin J operator. The following differential operator help single out the perpendicular indices

$$\mathcal{P}_{\epsilon}^{(k)} = \left(1 - \frac{2^k \left(p \cdot \epsilon\right)^k}{p^{2k} \left(d - 2 - k - 2 + 2n\right)_k} p^{\mu} \mathcal{D}_{\mu}^{\epsilon}\right) \mathcal{P}_{\epsilon}^{(k-1)}, \quad \mathcal{P}_{\epsilon}^{(0)} = 1,$$
(5.3)

where the differential operator $\mathcal{D}^{\epsilon}_{\mu}$ is used to restore the indices from ϵ [49]

$$\mathcal{D}^{\epsilon}_{\mu} = \left(\frac{d}{2} - 1 + \epsilon \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial \epsilon}\right) \frac{\partial}{\partial \epsilon^{\mu}} - \frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{\mu} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \epsilon \cdot \partial \epsilon} \,. \tag{5.4}$$

The parity-even three-point structures can then be constructed⁴

$$T_{123}^{i_{1},i_{2},i_{3}}(p) \propto (p \cdot \epsilon_{1})^{J_{1}-i_{1}}(p \cdot \epsilon_{2})^{J_{2}-i_{2}}(p \cdot \epsilon_{3})^{J_{3}-i_{3}}p^{\alpha} \\ \times \mathcal{P}_{\epsilon_{1}}^{(i_{1})}\mathcal{P}_{\epsilon_{2}}^{(i_{2})}\mathcal{P}_{\epsilon_{3}}^{(i_{3})}(\epsilon_{1} \cdot \epsilon_{2})^{\frac{i_{123}}{2}}(\epsilon_{1} \cdot \epsilon_{3})^{\frac{i_{132}}{2}}(\epsilon_{2} \cdot \epsilon_{3})^{\frac{i_{231}}{2}},$$
(5.5)

where $i_{abc} = i_a + i_b - i_c$ and $\alpha = \Delta_{123} - (J_1 - i_1) - (J_2 - i_2) - (J_3 - i_3)$ (we also denote $\Delta_{123} = \Delta_1 + \Delta_2 - \Delta_3$). By taking different integers from 0 to J_1 , J_2 for i_1 , i_2 respectively followed by taking i_3 among $|i_1 - i_2|, |i_1 - i_2| + 2, \dots, i_1 + i_2$, different structures that are orthogonal in p can thus be produced. The overall normalization is not relevant to our purpose. This construction follows the same spirit of construction of scattering amplitudes using center-of-mass frame, ensuring a counting map to flat-space [50].

We will be focusing on conserved spin-1 operator, which is dual to photon or more general gluon (the difference is the color structure encoded in OPE). There are two parityeven structures [34]

$$T_p = \left\{ \frac{\left[p^2(\epsilon_1 \cdot \epsilon_3) - (p \cdot \epsilon_1)(p \cdot \epsilon_3)\right] \left[p^2(\epsilon_2 \cdot \epsilon_3) - (p \cdot \epsilon_2)(p \cdot \epsilon_3)\right]}{(p \cdot \epsilon_3)^2} - \frac{p^2(\epsilon_1 \cdot \epsilon_2) - (p \cdot \epsilon_1)(p \cdot \epsilon_2)}{d - 1}, \\ p^2(\epsilon_1 \cdot \epsilon_2) - (p \cdot \epsilon_1)(p \cdot \epsilon_2) \right\} (p \cdot \epsilon_3)^{J_3} p^{d - 4 - \Delta_3 - J_3}.$$
(5.6)

We can Fourier-transform these structures back to coordinate space and rewrite in terms of embedding formalism

$$T_x = M_V . B_V \,, \tag{5.7}$$

where B_V is the basis constructed in embedding space

$$B_{V} = \frac{1}{P_{12}^{\frac{1}{2}(2d-\Delta_{3}-J_{3})}P_{13}^{\frac{1}{2}(\Delta_{3}+J_{3})}P_{23}^{\frac{1}{2}(\Delta_{3}+J_{3})}}}$$

$$\times \left\{ -H_{12}(-V_{3})^{J_{3}}, H_{31}H_{23}(-V_{3})^{J_{3}-2}, V_{1}V_{2}(-V_{3})^{J_{3}}, H_{31}V_{2}(-V_{3})^{J_{3}-1}, H_{23}V_{1}(-V_{3})^{J_{3}-1} \right\},$$
(5.8)

in which we follow [41] to define

$$H_{ij} = -2\left(P_i \cdot P_j Z_i \cdot Z_j - P_i \cdot Z_j P_j \cdot Z_i\right), \quad V_i := V_{i,jk} = \frac{P_i \cdot P_k P_j \cdot Z_i - P_i \cdot P_j P_k \cdot Z_i}{P_j \cdot P_k}.$$
 (5.9)

⁴We constructed these structures with Simon Caron-Huot during the preparation of [34]. [34] only presents d = 3 case, where these structures reduce to parity-even helicity basis.

The 2×5 matrix M_V is given below

$$\begin{pmatrix} \frac{2n\beta}{1-d} & \frac{-\mathcal{J}_3 + (d-1)(2-\tilde{\Delta}_3)^2}{d-1} & \frac{2n(4-2d(n+1)-4J_3)}{1-d} & \frac{2n(J_3 - (d-1)(\tilde{\Delta}_3 - 2))}{1-d} & \frac{2n(J_3 - (d-1)(\tilde{\Delta}_3 - 2))}{1-d} \\ 2n(d-\beta-1) & (1-J_3)J_3 & 2n(2J_3+\beta) & -2nJ_3 & -2nJ_3 \end{pmatrix},$$
(5.10)

where we have defined $\mathcal{J}_3 = J_3(J_3 + d - 2)$, $\Delta_3 - J_3 = 2(d - 2 + n)$ and $\dot{\Delta}_3 = d - \Delta_3$ to simplify the expression. We use our parameterization eq. (5.2) with center-of-mass frame

$$p_1 = (\omega, \vec{p}), \quad p_2 = (\omega, -\vec{p}), \quad p_3 = (-2\omega, 0),$$
 (5.11)

where we set $|p_3| = 0$ by scaling P_3 . Since \mathcal{O}_3 is massive, we should scale it $\Delta_3 \sim m_3 \ell$ and only keep the leading term that dominates at $\ell \to \infty$. In the end, by identifying $\epsilon = \vec{\epsilon}, p = |\vec{p}|$ we find

$$T_x \propto \Delta_3^2 T_p \,. \tag{5.12}$$

This is a spinning version of momentum-coordinate duality we discuss in the previous section!

They are also equal to three-point amplitudes in flat-space, where the corresponding vertex is [51] (for simplicity, we consider photon, while gluon follows similarly)

$$\left\{\partial_{\mu_1}\cdots\partial_{\mu_{J_3-2}}F_{\mu_{J_3-1}\nu}F_{\mu_{J_3}}\,^{\nu}\mathcal{O}^{\mu_1\cdots\mu_{J_3}},\partial_{\mu_1}\cdots\partial_{\mu_{J_3}}(F_{\mu\nu}F^{\mu\nu})^2\mathcal{O}^{\mu_1\cdots\mu_{J_3}}\right\}.$$
(5.13)

By Feynman rule, we can easily read off the three-point amplitudes. We still adopt the center-of-mass frame eq. (5.11). After making orthogonal combination of these vertices, we indeed verify

$$T_{\rm amp} \propto \int d^d x e^{ip \cdot x} \langle V(0) V(x) \mathcal{O}(\infty) \rangle \propto \langle V(0) V(x) \mathcal{O}(\infty) \rangle.$$
 (5.14)

We verify that the structures eq. (5.6) are indeed corresponding to nicely orthogonal structures of amplitude, however, there is a puzzle. Using eq. (5.6), [34] find a messily non-diagonal shadow and OPE matrices except for d = 3 even for MFT, which is counterintuitive comparing to amplitude. The resolution is simple. We have to notice that the OPE matrix contains ratio of rational function of Δ where Δ is the conformal dimension of exchanged operator that is massive. To match with flat-space, we should really take $\Delta \to \infty$ and keep the leading term. The leading term is perfectly diagonal (the OPE matrix remains diagonal up to $O(1/\Delta^2)$)

$$c^{\rm MFT}(\Delta, J) = \frac{1}{2(d-2)^2(d-1)^3} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0\\ 0 & \frac{(J-1)J}{(d-2)(d+J-2)(d+J-1)} \end{pmatrix},$$
 (5.15)

which readily generalizes d = 3 diagonal OPE matrix obtained in [34].

6 Conclusion

In this paper, we constructed the scattering smearing kernels for both global AdS (eq. (2.27)) and Poincare AdS (eq. (2.45)), which represent flat-space S-matrix in d + 1 in terms of CFT correlator in d. We found that the scattering smearing kernel from Poincare AdS is a simple Fourier factor that brings the CFT correlator to momentum space. The scattering smearing kernel from global AdS is more nontrivial, and we found that it is served as the unified origin of other known frameworks of flat-space limit: Mellin space, coordinate space, and partial-waves.

We focused on global AdS and employed the Mellin representation of CFT correlators. We found that the scattering smearing kernel is dominated by specific configurations of CFT embedding coordinate, which is the coordinate parameterization conjectured in [16]. These kinematic saddle-points are valid regardless of mass, but we found that one more saddle-point regarding Mellin constraints is developed for massive scattering. According to this crucial observation, we found a Mellin formula that unifies massless formula and massive formula, see eq. (3.36). We used the unified Mellin formula to readily derive a unified formula describing the flat-space limit in coordinate space eq. (3.53), which reduces to the bulk-point limit [15] for massless scattering and also gives rise to both amplitude and S-matrix conjecture proposed in [16]. We readily derived the phase-shift formula for massless scattering by doing the partial-wave expansion. As the positions of CFT operators are restricted by kinematic saddle-points, we introduced a new conformal frame, which solves the conformal block at the heavy limit of both internal and external conformal dimensions. This conformal block was then used to derive a phase-shift formula for non-identical massive scattering, proving the proposal of [17].

The notion of subregion duality suggests that the Poincare scattering smearing kernel eq. (2.45) should be transformed to the global scattering smearing kernel eq. (2.45). We thus came up with a momentum-coordinate duality, which establishes a bridge for the large momentum limit of CFT correlator and smeared CFT correlator in the coordinate space eq. (4.1). By analyzing the saddle-points of Fourier-transform, we verified this duality and thus connected the flat-space limit in momentum space with other frameworks of flat-space limit. As this final gap was filled, the main result of this paper is to show that all existed frameworks of the flat-space limit of AdS/CFT are equivalent.

The final part of this paper is to play with the flat-space limit for spinning operators. We proposed a reasonable parameterization of embedding polarizations and then verified that the coordinate space and the momentum space of three-point function $\langle VV\mathcal{O}\rangle$ in the flat-space limit are indeed equivalent to each other, and they are equivalent to photon-photon-massive three-point amplitudes. We also quoted the MFT OPE matrix of conserved current four-point function, which becomes diagonal by taking the flat-space limit of intermediate operators $\Delta \to \infty$.

There are some interesting questions that we do not explore in this paper. Since OPE and anomalous dimensions in CFT can be identified to the phase-shift in QFT, it is then natural to ask, does taking the flat-space limit of Lorentzian inversion formula [52, 53] yield the Froissart-Gribov formula (see [54] for a review)? A related question is that does the

flat-space limit of CFT dispersive sum rule [19, 55] give rise to dispersion relation in QFT? These questions are all relevant to analytic and unitary properties of AdS/CFT [56–59] under the flat-space limit and the investigations of them are in active progress [42, 60]. Regarding the analytic analysis, the AdS impact parameter space [61] can serve as an important tool (e.g., probe the conformal Regge limit [62]), and its flat-space limit (see, e.g., [63]) could potentially cover large spin regime where $s \sim \Delta^2 - J^2$ [42]. These aspects could shed light on constraining AdS EFT (e.g., [64, 65]) by recently developed techniques of numerically obtaining EFT bounds [66, 67].

It is also of great importance to derive complete formulas of flat-space limit for spinning correlators, or at least do more examples at four-point level in terms of Mellin space, coordinate space or partial-wave expansion, see e.g., [68, 69] for recent nice trying. This could shed light on color-kinematic duality and double-copy relation (see [70, 71]) in CFT (see [72–75] for insightful studies in momentum space of AdS/CFT).

Another interesting topic is to investigate the relation to celestial amplitude. Flatspace massless four-point amplitudes, as projected to celestial sphere, develop two lowerdimensional CFT structures with bulk-point delta function $\delta(z - \bar{z})$ [76], it is then interesting to clarify its relation to bulk-point limit, as was done in four dimensions [77].

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank for Simon Caron-Huot for valuable discussions and support. We would also like to thank for Balt C. van Rees, Anh-Khoi Trinh, Zahra Zahraee and Xiang Zhao for useful conversations. We are also grateful to referee's comments and suggestions. Work of Y.-Z.L. is supported in parts by the Fonds de Recherche du Québec — Nature et Technologies and by the Simons Collaboration on the Nonperturbative Bootstrap.

A Momentum space for Euclidean CFT

In subsection 2.2, we construct the scattering smearing kernel from Poincare AdS, which Fourier transform Lorentzian CFT correlators, giving rise to the flat-space limit in the momentum space eq. (2.45). However, Lorentzian CFTs admit more subtle analytic structures (see [78] for fun), making it not easy to perform Fourier transform. It is better to represent S-matrix in terms of Euclidean CFT, where the Fourier transform is much straightforward. This is the flat-space limit proposed in [18]. In this appendix, we demonstrate how, in a direct way, to rewrite eq. (2.45) in terms of Euclidean CFT, which, as the massless condition is turned on, reduces to [18].

Of course we should wick rotate Lorentzian CFT to Euclidean CFT, i.e., $T \rightarrow iT$. Correspondingly, we have $E \rightarrow iE$ where E now is spatial momentum rather than energy. However, this procedure causes some troubles for modes expansion eq. (2.30), as we discussed there. A simple resolution is to wick rotates $z \rightarrow iz$, and consequently the Bessel function of the first kind J_{ν} remains valid as mode functions. Importantly, we should also retain the spacetime in the flat-space limit eq. (2.45) as a Minkowski space. We can formally do this by taking $\ell \rightarrow i\ell$ and $x_d \rightarrow ix_d$. To be more clear, we do wick rotations as follows

$$T \to iT$$
, $z \to iz$, $\ell \to i\ell$, $x_d \to ix_d$, $t \to -t$, $x_{i < d} \to ix_{i < d}$. (A.1)

It is easy to see that after doing these analytic continuations, AdS becomes dS and the flat-space limit remains as Minkowski. It is then readily to find the remanning parts of analyzing the flat-space limit still follow subsection 2.2, but with the momentum continued correspondingly

$$\omega \to \omega, \quad k_{i < d} \to -ik_{i < d}, \quad k_d \to ik_d = i\sqrt{|\mathbf{k}|^2 + m^2},$$
(A.2)

where $|\mathbf{k}| = \sqrt{\omega^2 + k_{i<d}^2}$. Now it is easy to see that ω is no longer the energy but one component of spatial momentum, and the additional momentum coming from bulk k_d is the actual energy as the proposal in [18]. We may stick to the usual notation calling energy ω , then the scattering smearing kernel eq. (2.45) basically remains the same but replacing $k_d \to i\omega$ since k_d now is energy

$$S = \int \left(\prod_{i} d^{d} x_{i} 2^{1 - \frac{d}{2} + \Delta_{i}} \ell^{-\Delta_{i}} \sqrt{\frac{\Gamma(1 + \Delta_{i} - \frac{d}{2})}{\Gamma(\frac{d}{2} - \Delta_{i})}} \frac{\omega^{\frac{1}{2}}}{|p_{i}|^{\Delta_{i} - \frac{d}{2}}} e^{-i\tilde{\alpha}_{\omega}} e^{ip_{i} \cdot x_{i}} \right) \langle \mathcal{O}_{1} \cdots \mathcal{O}_{n} \rangle_{\mathrm{E}}, \quad (\mathrm{A.3})$$

B Normalizing scattering smearing kernel

The scattering smearing kernels we construct in section 2 are already normalized. We show in subsection 2.3 that using HKLL formula and LSZ can somehow determine the scattering smearing kernels up to normalization. Here we demonstrate we can fix the normalization by requiring the canonical condition

$$S_{12} = \langle p_1 | p_2 \rangle = (2\pi)^d 2\omega \delta^{(d)}(p_1 - p_2).$$
(B.1)

B.1 Global smearing

For global smearing, we start with a smearing kernel with momentum dependence unknown for S_{12}

$$S_{12} = \int dt_1 dt_2 e^{i(\omega_2 t_2 - \omega_1 t_1)} A_g(p_1) A_g(p_2) \langle \mathcal{O}_1(\tau_1, \hat{p}_1) \mathcal{O}_2(\tau_2, \hat{p}_2) \rangle, \qquad (B.2)$$

where $A_g(p)$ is the yet-to-be-determined normalization. We use the following representation of two-point function, basically constructed from quantization eq. (2.19)

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_1(\tau_1, \hat{p}_1) \mathcal{O}_2(\tau_2, \hat{p}_2) \rangle = \frac{\mathcal{C}_\Delta}{2^\Delta (\cos \tau_{12} - \hat{p}_1 \cdot \hat{p}_2)^\Delta} = \sum_{n,J} (N^{\mathcal{O}}_{\Delta,n,J})^2 e^{iE_{n,J}(\tau_1 - \tau_2)} Y_{Jm_i}(\hat{p}_1) Y_{Jm_i}(\hat{p}_2) .$$
(B.3)

As we show in subsection 2.1, taking $\ell \to \infty$ yields

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_1(\tau_1, \hat{p}_1) \mathcal{O}_2(\tau_2, \hat{p}_2) \rangle = \int d\omega \frac{2^{d-2\Delta-1} \ell^{2\Delta-d+1} p^{2\Delta-d}}{\xi_{\omega\Delta}^2 \Gamma(\Delta+1-\frac{d}{2})^2} e^{i\omega(t_1-t_2)} \delta^{(d-1)}(\hat{p}_1-\hat{p}_2) \,. \tag{B.4}$$

Plugging into eq. (B.2), we can perform the integral of $t_{1,2}$ to have $(2\pi)^2 \delta(\omega - \omega_1) \delta(\omega - \omega_2)$. Then we can integrate out ω , leaving only one delta function $\delta(\omega_1 - \omega_2)$. We have

$$S_{12} = \frac{2^{d-2\Delta+1}\ell^{2\Delta-d+1}p_1^{2\Delta-d}\pi^2}{\xi_{\omega_1\Delta}^2\Gamma\left(\Delta+1-\frac{d}{2}\right)^2}A_g\left(p_1\right)^2\delta\left(\omega_1-\omega_2\right)\delta^{(d-1)}\left(\hat{p}_1-\hat{p}_2\right),$$

$$= \frac{2^{d-2\Delta+1}\ell^{2\Delta-d+1}p_1^{2(\Delta-1)}\pi^2}{\xi_{\omega_1\Delta}^2\Gamma\left(\Delta+1-\frac{d}{2}\right)^2}A_g\left(p_1\right)^2\omega_1\delta^{(d)}\left(p_1-p_2\right),$$
(B.5)

where we have used the on-shell condition to rewrite the delta functions

$$\delta(\omega_1 - \omega_2)\delta^{(d-1)}(\hat{p}_1 - \hat{p}_2) = \omega_1 p_1^{d-1}\delta^{(d)}(p_1 - p_2).$$
(B.6)

Equating to eq. (B.1), we obtain correctly

$$A_g(p) = 2^{\Delta} \ell^{\frac{d-1}{2} - \Delta} p^{1 - \Delta} \pi^{\frac{d-2}{2}} \xi_{\omega \Delta} \Gamma\left(\Delta + 1 - \frac{d}{2}\right).$$
(B.7)

B.2 Poincare smearing

Similarly, we consider S_{12} with normalization factor A_p to be fixed

$$S_{12} = \int d^d x_1 d^d x_2 e^{i(p_1 \cdot x_1 - p_2 \cdot x_2)} A_p(p_1) A_p(p_2) \langle \mathcal{O}_1(T_1, Y_1) \mathcal{O}_2(T_2, Y_2) \rangle, \qquad (B.8)$$

where

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_1(T_1, Y_1)\mathcal{O}_2(T_2, Y_2)\rangle = \frac{\mathcal{C}_\Delta}{|-(T_1 - T_2)^2 + (Y_1 - Y_2)^2|^\Delta}.$$
 (B.9)

It is more convenient to work with Euclidean CFT, and we can also work with variables x_{12} and x_2

$$S_{12} = \int d^d x_{12} d^d x_2 e^{ip_1 \cdot x_{12} + ip_{12} \cdot x_2} A_p(p_1) A_p(p_2) \frac{\mathcal{C}_{\Delta} \ell^{2\Delta}}{x_{12}^{2\Delta}} \,. \tag{B.10}$$

The integral of x_{12} performs the Fourier transform for $p_1^{(d)}$, and the integral of x_2 simply gives delta function $(2\pi)^d \delta(p_1 - p_2)$

$$S_{12} = 2^{d-2\Delta-1} p_1^{2\Delta-d} \frac{\Gamma(\frac{d}{2} - \Delta)}{\Gamma(1 + \Delta - \frac{d}{2})} \ell^{2\Delta} \times A_p(p_1)^2 (2\pi)^d \delta^{(d)}(p_1 - p_2).$$
(B.11)

Compare with eq. (B.1), and then analytically continue back to Lorentzian signature, we find

$$A_p(p) = 2^{1 - \frac{d}{2} + \Delta} \ell^{-\Delta} \sqrt{\frac{\Gamma(1 + \Delta - \frac{d}{2})}{\Gamma(\frac{d}{2} - \Delta)}} \frac{k_d^{\frac{1}{2}}}{|\mathbf{k}|^{\Delta - \frac{d}{2}}}.$$
 (B.12)

C Derivation of formulas in Mellin space

We break our derivation of Mellin space formula into two steps. First, we approximate four-point function in terms of Mellin amplitudes at saddle-points of δ_{ij} and then we recall scattering kernel and perform integration over time around its saddle-point for massless case and massive case separately.

C.1 Limit of Mellin representation and massive formula

Start with Mellin representation of four-point functions eq. (3.10), we scale $\delta_{ij} = \ell^2 \sigma_{ij}$ and exponentiate all integrands as we describe in subsection 3.2, include the explicit prefactor we have

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_1 \cdots \mathcal{O}_n \rangle = \frac{\mathcal{N}}{(2\pi i)^{\frac{n(n-3)}{2}}} \int \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{d\beta_i}{2\pi} \left[d\sigma_{ij} \right] \ell^{n(n-1)+\Delta_{\Sigma}} \times \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{\mathrm{i}}{\beta_i} \left(\frac{2\pi}{\ell^2} \right)^{\frac{n(n-1)}{4}} \frac{\prod_{i=1}^n |p_i|^{\Delta_i}}{(2\Delta_{\Sigma})^{\frac{1}{2}\Delta_{\Sigma}}} \prod_{i (C.1)$$

where the exponent is exactly eq. (3.17). To be general, we expand the exponent around saddle-points as recorded in eq. (3.33), which works for both massless and massive situation. In general, β is not determined unless further saddle-points are dominated as for massive particles. We may take a gauge choice that sets $\beta_1 = \beta$ to keep track of β , which introduces additional integration

$$\int \frac{d\delta\beta_0}{2\pi} \exp[i\delta\beta_0\delta\beta_1] \,. \tag{C.2}$$

We can make further simplification by following [14] to redefine ϵ_{ij}

$$u_{ij} = \epsilon_{ij} - \frac{2n}{n-2}q \cdot (p_i + p_j) - \delta s_{ij}, \qquad (C.3)$$

and we obtain

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_{1} \cdots \mathcal{O}_{n} \rangle = \frac{\mathcal{N}}{(2\pi i)^{\frac{n(n-3)}{2}}} \int d\beta \prod_{a=0}^{n} \frac{\delta\beta_{a}}{2\pi} \left[du_{ij} \right] \left(\frac{\ell^{2}\beta^{2}}{2\Delta_{\Sigma}} \right)^{\frac{n(n-1)}{2}} \left(\frac{i}{\beta} \right)^{n} \left(\frac{2\pi}{\ell^{2}} \right)^{\frac{n(n-1)}{4}}$$
$$\times \prod_{i < j} \left(\sigma_{ij}^{*} \right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{\ell^{2}\beta^{2}}{2\Delta_{\Sigma}} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}\Delta_{\Sigma}} \prod_{i} |p_{i}|^{\Delta_{i}} \exp\left[\cdots \right],$$
(C.4)

where the exponent here is

$$\begin{split} \exp\left[i\delta\beta_{0}\delta\beta_{1} - \frac{\ell^{2}\beta}{2\Delta_{\Sigma}}\sum_{i

$$(C.5)$$$$

Integrating out u_{ij} gives an overall factor

$$(2\pi)^{\frac{n(n-1)}{4}} \left(\prod_{i < j} \left(s'_{ij} - (m_i + m_j)^2 \right) \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(-\frac{2\Delta_{\Sigma}}{\ell^2 \beta^2} \right)^{\frac{n(n-1)}{4}}, \quad (C.6)$$

accompanied with an exponent

$$\exp\left[-\frac{\ell^2}{4\Delta_{\Sigma}}\sum_{i< j}(s'_{ij}-(m_i+m_j)^2)(\delta\beta_i+\delta\beta_j)^2\right].$$
(C.7)

We should then integrate out $\delta\beta_i$. The exponent relevant to $\delta\beta_a$ can be concisely written in terms of matrices

$$\exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}\delta\beta.A_{\beta}.\delta\beta^{\mathrm{T}} + B_{\beta}.\delta\beta^{\mathrm{T}}\right], \quad \delta\beta = (\delta\beta_{0}, \cdots, \delta\beta_{n}), \quad (C.8)$$

where

$$(A_{\beta})_{0i} = (A_{\beta})_{i0} = -i\delta_{i1}, \quad (A_{\beta})_{ij} = \frac{1}{\beta^2} \Delta_i \delta_{ij} + \frac{\ell^2}{2\Delta_{\Sigma}} (s'_{ij} - (m_i + m_j)^2),$$

$$(B_{\beta})_0 = 0, \qquad (B_{\beta})_i = \frac{\Delta_i}{\beta} - \frac{\ell^2 \beta}{2\Delta_{\Sigma}} \sum_{j \neq i} (s'_{ij} - (m_i + m_j)^2 + \delta s_{ij} + \frac{2n}{n-2} q \cdot (p_i + p_j)).$$
(C.9)

Integrating out $\delta\beta_a$ thus simply gives

$$\sqrt{\frac{(2\pi)^{n+1}}{\det A_{\beta}}} \exp\left[\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i,j} \left(A_{\beta}^{-1}\right)_{ij} \left(B_{\beta}\right)_{i} \left(B_{\beta}\right)_{j}\right].$$
(C.10)

 $\det A$ is difficult to be evaluated for general n, nevertheless we can find its pattern follows

$$\det A_{\beta} = \frac{\ell^{2(n-1)} \det'(s_{ij} - (m_i + m_j)^2)}{(2\Delta_{\Sigma})^{n-1}} + \frac{\prod_{i=2}^n \Delta_i}{\beta^{2(n-1)}} + \sum_{m=2}^{n-2} (-1)^{m+1} \sum_{\{i_m\} \neq 1} \left(\prod_{i=2, i \neq \{i_m\}}^n \Delta_i\right) \left(\prod_{(k,l)>1, (k,l)\neq \{\bar{i_m}\}}^n \left(s_{kl} - (m_k + m_l)^2\right)\right) \times \frac{\ell^{2m}}{4\beta^{2(n-1-m)}},$$
(C.11)

where det' denotes the determinant with discarding the first raw and column. We should explain more on the notation. $\{i_m\}$ denotes a length m list of numbers and $\{\bar{i_m}\}$ denotes the complementary of $\{i_m\}$ through i > 1. For massless case, all the followed terms are subdominate compare to the first term, thus the expression reduces to

$$\det A_{\beta} \simeq \frac{\ell^{2(n-1)} \det'(s_{ij})}{(2\Delta_{\Sigma})^{n-1}} \,. \tag{C.12}$$

Including all pieces, we obtain

$$\left\langle \mathcal{O}_{1}\cdots\mathcal{O}_{n}\right\rangle = \frac{\mathcal{N}}{\left(2\pi i\right)^{\frac{n(n-3)}{2}}} \int d\beta \,\mathcal{D}\left(s_{ij},\beta\right) e^{S\left(q,\delta s_{ij},\beta\right)} M\left(\delta_{ij} = \frac{\ell^{2}\beta^{2}}{2\Delta_{\Sigma}}\left(s_{ij}-\left(m_{i}+m_{j}\right)^{2}\right)\right),\tag{C.13}$$

where

$$\mathcal{D}(s_{ij},\beta) = (-1)^{\frac{1}{4}n(n+1)} \left(\frac{\ell^2}{2\Delta_{\Sigma}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}\Delta_{\Sigma}} (2\pi)^{\frac{1}{2}(n^2-3n-2)} \beta^{\Delta_{\Sigma}-n} \prod_i |p_i|^{\Delta_i} \sqrt{\frac{(2\pi)^{n+1}}{\det A_{\beta}}},$$

$$S(q,\delta s_{ij},\beta) = -\frac{\ell^2 \beta^2}{2\Delta_{\Sigma}} \sum_{i < j} \delta s_{ij} - \frac{\ell^2 \beta^2 n^2}{2\Delta_{\Sigma}} q^2 + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i,j} \left(A_{\beta}^{-1}\right)_{ij} (B_{\beta})_i (B_{\beta})_j + \frac{1}{2} \beta^2 \Delta_{\Sigma}. \quad (C.14)$$

The second step is then integrating time and q. Generally evaluating this two integrals analytically is technically difficult, fortunately we can discuss massive case and massless case separately, which can largely simplify the problem. For formula involving massive external particles, the situation is much more trivial and it is actually not necessary to really do the derivation. In this case, eq. (C.13) can be further simplified by assigning $\beta = i$ to integrands and dropping integral of β . Performing integral over τ_i and q, we simply obtain a formula that equates flat-space amplitudes to Mellin amplitudes with $\delta_{ij} = -\ell^2 \beta^2 / (2\Delta_{\Sigma}) (s_{ij} - (m_i + m_j)^2)$ up to an overall normalization, namely

$$T(s_{ij}) \propto M\left(\delta_{ij} = -\frac{\ell^2}{2\Delta_{\Sigma}} \left(s_{ij} - (m_i + m_j)^2\right)\right).$$
(C.15)

The proportional factor is universal, since it is originated from universal kinematic factor KI in eq. (3.9) and universal factor $\mathcal{D}(s_{ij}, i)e^{S(q,\delta s_{ij},i)}$ in eq. (C.13). Thus we can determine the proportional factor by simply considering a contact example eq. (3.64). Both flat-space amplitude and Mellin amplitude of such contact interaction are simply coupling constant, thus the proportional factor of above formula is simply 1!

C.2 Derivation of massless formula

When all external particles are massless, the derivation becomes highly nontrivial. The expected form of the formula is

$$T(s_{ij}) \sim \int d\beta f(\beta) M\left(\delta_{ij} = \frac{\ell^2 \beta^2}{2\Delta_{\Sigma}} \left(s_{ij} - (m_i + m_j)^2\right)\right), \qquad (C.16)$$

however, the existence of integral over β makes it impossible to simply determine the proportional function $f(\beta)$ by contact interaction, unless we know $f(\beta)$. A nice derivation is available in [14], and we review their derivation here but with a different gauge.

Let's first describe how our gauge choice can be transformed to the one used in [14]. The gauge choice in [14] is $\epsilon_{12} = 0$ rather than $\beta_1 = \beta$ we use. To transform the gauge to $\epsilon_{12} = 0$, we only need to redefine β by $\beta \to \beta - \delta\beta_1$ with a specific $\delta\beta_1$ rendering $\epsilon_{12} = 0$

$$\delta\beta_1 \simeq \frac{\beta\epsilon_{12}}{2s_{12}} \,. \tag{C.17}$$

Then we have

$$\exp\left[i\delta\beta_0\delta\beta_1\right] \to \exp\left[i\delta\beta_0\frac{\epsilon_{12}\beta}{2s'_{12}}\right].$$
(C.18)

We can then change some variables by

$$\frac{\beta\ell^2}{2\Delta_{\Sigma}}\delta\beta_i = i\lambda_i \,, \quad \frac{\delta\beta_0\beta}{2s'_{12}} = \lambda_0 \,, \tag{C.19}$$

which provide the following prefactors

$$\left(-\frac{2i\Delta_{\Sigma}}{\beta\ell^2}\right)^n \frac{2s'_{12}}{\beta}.$$
 (C.20)

Then trivially changing the variable β by $\beta = i\sqrt{\Delta_{\Sigma}/(2\alpha)}$ (which will also be used with our gauge anyway) makes the integrand become

$$\prod_{i=1} d\delta \tau_i d\alpha \prod_{a=0} \lambda_a \left[d\epsilon_{ij} \right] \left(-\frac{\ell^2}{4\alpha} \right)^{\frac{n(n-3)}{2}} \left(-\frac{s_{12}'}{\alpha} \right) \left(\frac{2\pi}{\ell^2} \right)^{\frac{n(n-1)}{4}} \prod_{i
(C.21)$$

where the exponent is exactly eq. (107) in [14] by simply noting $\ell|_{\text{here}} = R|_{\text{there}}$ and $\delta \tau_{ij}|_{\text{here}} = t_{ij}/R|_{\text{there}}$. It is also easy to check that the prefactors also match with [14].

With our gauge, we now should start with eq. (C.13) and integrate both $\delta \tau_i$ and q over. The massless limit simplifies the exponent in eq. (C.13)

$$\frac{1}{2}\sum_{i,j} \left(A_{\beta}^{-1}\right)_{ij} \left(B_{\beta}\right)_{i} \left(B_{\beta}\right)_{j} = 2n^{2} \left(\frac{\ell^{2}\beta}{2\Delta_{\Sigma}}\right)^{2} \sum_{i,j} \left(q \cdot p_{i}\right) \left(q \cdot p_{i}\right) \left(A_{\beta}^{-1}\right)_{ij} - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{l,m} (A_{\tau}^{1})_{lm} \delta\tau_{l} \delta\tau_{m} ,$$
(C.22)

where

$$\left(A_{\tau}^{1}\right)_{lm} = -4 \left(\frac{\ell^{2}\beta}{2\Delta_{\Sigma}}\right)^{2} n \left(\sum_{i} q \cdot p_{i}\left((A_{\beta}^{-1})_{il} + (A_{\beta}^{-1})_{im}\right)\omega_{m}\omega_{l}(1-\delta_{lm}) - \sum_{i}\sum_{k\neq m} q \cdot p_{i}\left((A_{\beta}^{-1})_{im} + (A_{\beta}^{-1})_{ik}\right)\omega_{k}\omega_{m}\delta_{lm}\right).$$
 (C.23)

Now let us first take a look at $\delta \tau_i$. We follow [14] to introduce an exponent $\exp\left[-\sum_i \frac{\delta \tau_i^2}{2T^2}\right]$ with cut-off $T \to \infty$, which benefits the derivation. Then we can write the time relevant exponent as

$$\exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}\delta\tau.A_{\tau}.\delta\tau^{\mathrm{T}}\right], \quad \delta\tau = (\delta\tau_{1},\cdots,\delta\tau_{n}).$$
(C.24)

The linear term is suppressed by large AdS radius ℓ and the matrix A_{τ} can be organized as

$$(A_{\tau})_{lm} = (A_{\tau}^{0})_{lm} + (A_{\tau}^{q})_{lm}, \quad (A_{\tau}^{q})_{lm} = (A_{\tau}^{1})_{lm} + (A_{\tau}^{2})_{lm}, \quad (A_{\tau}^{0})_{lm} = \frac{1}{T^{2}}\delta_{lm} + \frac{\beta^{2}\ell^{2}}{\Delta_{\Sigma}}\omega_{l}\omega_{m}, \quad (C.25)$$

where

$$A_{\tau}^{2} = -\frac{\beta^{2}\ell^{2}}{\Delta_{\Sigma}}nq_{0}\omega_{l}\delta_{lm}, \quad A_{\tau}^{3} = \frac{\beta^{2}\ell^{2}}{\Delta_{\Sigma}}\omega_{l}\omega_{m}.$$
(C.26)

The inverse of A_{τ} can be evaluated as [14]

$$\left(\left(A_{\tau}^{0} \right)^{-1} \right)_{lm} = T^{2} \delta_{lm} + \omega_{l} \omega_{m} \left(-\frac{T^{2}}{\sum \omega_{i}^{2}} + \frac{\Delta_{\Sigma}}{\beta^{2} \ell^{2} \left(\sum_{i} \omega_{i}^{2} \right)^{2}} \right) + \mathcal{O} \left(T^{-2} \right) ,$$

$$(A_{\tau})^{-1} = \left(A_{\tau}^{0} \right)^{-1} \left(1 - A_{\tau}^{q} (A_{\tau}^{0})^{-1} + (A_{\tau}^{q} (A_{\tau}^{0})^{-1})^{2} \right) .$$

$$(C.27)$$

Then performing the integral over $\delta \tau_i$, the following prefactor is obtained

$$\operatorname{pref}_{\tau} = \left(\frac{\Delta_{\Sigma}}{\sum \omega_k^2 \beta^2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \frac{T^{n-1} (2\pi)^{\frac{n}{2}}}{\ell}, \qquad (C.28)$$

which comes with the following exponent

$$\exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}\sum_{ij}\left(A^{-1}\right)_{ij}\omega_i\omega_j\ell^2\right].$$
(C.29)

The remaining exponent is recorded below

$$\exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}\frac{\Delta_{\Sigma}}{\beta^2} + Q\left(q_{\mu}\right)\right],\qquad(C.30)$$

where $Q(q_{\mu})$ can be organized as

$$Q(q) = -\frac{\ell^2 n^2 \beta^2}{2\Delta_{\Sigma}} q^2 + 2n^2 \left(\frac{\ell^2 \beta}{2\Delta_{\Sigma}}\right)^2 \sum_{i,j} (q \cdot p_i) (q \cdot p_i) \left(A_{\beta}^{-1}\right)_{ij} - \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\Delta_{\Sigma} T}{\sum \omega_k^2 \ell}\right)^2 \sum_{kl} \left(\delta_{kl} - \frac{\omega_k \omega_l}{\sum \omega_i^2}\right) \tilde{A}_k^q \tilde{A}_l^q, \qquad (C.31)$$

where

$$\tilde{A}_m^q = \sum \omega_i A_{im}^q = 4 \left(\frac{\ell^2}{2\Delta_{\Sigma}}\right)^2 n \sum_{i,k} q \cdot p_i \left((A_\beta^{-1})_{im} + (A_\beta^{-1})_{ik}\right) \omega_k \omega_m (\omega_m - \omega_k) - \frac{\ell^2}{\Delta_{\Sigma}} n q_0 \omega_k^2 \,. \tag{C.32}$$

Finally we are in the right position to integrate over q to get

$$\sqrt{\frac{(2\pi)^{d+1}}{\det Q_{qq}}}, \quad Q_{qq} = -\frac{\partial}{\partial q^{\mu}} \frac{\partial}{\partial q^{\nu}} Q, \qquad (C.33)$$

where explicitly we obtain

$$Q_{qq} = \frac{\ell^2 n^2 \beta^2}{\Delta_{\Sigma}} \delta_{\mu\nu} - 2n^2 \left(\frac{\ell^2 \beta}{2\Delta_{\Sigma}}\right)^2 \sum_{i,j} \left(p_i^{\mu} p_j^{\nu} + p_j^{\mu} p_i^{\nu}\right) (q \cdot p_i) \left(A_{\beta}^{-1}\right)_{ij} + \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\Delta_{\Sigma} T}{\sum \omega_k^2 \ell}\right)^2 \sum_{kl} \left(\delta_{kl} - \frac{\omega_k \omega_l}{\sum \omega_i^2}\right) \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial q^{\mu}} \tilde{A}_k^q \frac{\partial}{\partial q^{\nu}} \tilde{A}_l^q + \frac{\partial}{\partial q^{\nu}} \tilde{A}_k^q \frac{\partial}{\partial q^{\mu}} \tilde{A}_l^q\right).$$
(C.34)

It is not hard to find that the second and the third term in Q_{qq} is only rank-(n-1) up to $\mathcal{O}(q)$, thus by taking $T \to \infty$, the whole determinant of Q_{qq} can be evaluated by multiplying the rank-(n-1) determinant of the last term with the rank-(d-n+2) determinant of the first term [14]. Using this trick, we can pull out β and T, which is crucial for determining $f(\beta)$. Pulling out T cancels T^{n-1} in pref_{τ}, leaving the final answer independent of cutoff T. On the other hand, it contributes $\beta^{-(d-n+2)}$. Together with eq. (C.13) (also note eq. (C.30)), one can readily find the β (or α) dependence $f(\beta) \sim \beta^{\Delta_{\Sigma}-d}$

$$d\beta\beta^{\Delta\Sigma-d}e^{-\frac{1}{2}\frac{\Delta\Sigma}{\beta^2}} \sim d\alpha\alpha^{\frac{d-\Delta\Sigma}{2}}e^{\alpha}.$$
 (C.35)

The remaining part is technically difficult to evaluate, but nevertheless it is not necessary to evaluate it. The form of $f(\beta)$ in (C.16) is now fixed, and the remaining factor serves simply as normalization factor and should be determined by contact interaction.

D n = 4 contact Witten diagram

We consider Witten diagram given by contact interaction

$$\mathcal{L} = \phi_1^2 \phi_2^2 \,. \tag{D.1}$$

The AdS amplitude is simply

$$A = \int d^{d+2} X \prod_{i=1}^{4} G_{b\partial}(X, P_i) , \qquad (D.2)$$

where $G_{b\partial}$ is the bulk-to-boundary propagator

$$G_{b\partial}(X, P_i) = \frac{\mathcal{C}_{\Delta_i}}{\ell^{\frac{d-1}{2}} (-2P_i \cdot X/\ell)^{\Delta_i}}.$$
 (D.3)

The contact Witten diagram can be represented by D-function [79]

$$A = \ell^{3-d} \mathcal{C}^2_{\Delta_1} \mathcal{C}^2_{\Delta_2} D_{\Delta_1 \Delta_2 \Delta_2 \Delta_1}(P_i), \qquad (D.4)$$

where

$$D_{\Delta_1 \Delta_2 \Delta_2 \Delta_1} \left(P_i \right) = \frac{1}{\ell \Gamma \left(\Delta_1 \right)^2 \Gamma \left(\Delta_2 \right)^2} \int_0^\infty \left(\prod_i dt_i t_i^{\Delta_i - 1} \right) \int dX e^{-2\sum_{i=1}^4 t_i \frac{P_i \cdot X}{\ell}} \,. \tag{D.5}$$

Integrate out the bulk coordinate X, one found a simple representation of this Witten diagram [13]

$$A = \ell^{3-d} \pi^{\frac{d}{2}} \Gamma\left(\frac{\Delta_{\Sigma} - d}{2}\right) \prod_{i=1}^{4} \frac{\mathcal{C}_{\Delta_i}}{\Gamma\left(\Delta_i\right)} \int_0^\infty \left(\prod_{i=1}^{4} dt_i t_i^{\Delta_i - 1}\right) e^{-\sum_{i < j} t_i t_j P_{ij}}.$$
 (D.6)

This representation can be straightforwardly transformed into Mellin amplitudes. We start with this representation, it is then not surprise it gives rise to the same answer as Mellin space provides. We find saddle-points of t_i are

$$t_{1} = -\frac{i\sqrt{\ell}(m+m_{12})(m+\bar{m}_{12})}{4\sqrt{\bar{m}_{12}}m}, \quad t_{2} = -\frac{i\sqrt{\ell}(m-m_{12})(m+\bar{m}_{12})}{4\sqrt{\bar{m}_{12}}m},$$

$$t_{3} = \frac{i\sqrt{\ell}(m+m_{12})(m-\bar{m}_{12})}{4\sqrt{\bar{m}_{12}}m}, \quad t_{2} = \frac{i\sqrt{\ell}(m-m_{12})(m-\bar{m}_{12})}{4\sqrt{\bar{m}_{12}}m}.$$
 (D.7)

Picking up these saddle-points and including all reasonable normalization, we find it indeed gives rise to D_c in eq. (3.80) for $s = m^2$.

We can also follow the routine of [16] to verify that the contact Witten diagram is equivalent to momentum conservation delta function. To show this, we evaluate

$$\int \frac{d|p_3|}{2\omega_3} \frac{d^d p_4}{2\omega_4} |p_3|^{d-1} A.$$
 (D.8)

In flat-space, this evaluates the phase-space volume

$$\int \frac{d|p_3|}{2\omega_3} \frac{d^d p_4}{2\omega_4} |p_3|^{d-1} \delta^{(d+1)}(p_1 + p_2 + p_3 + p_4) = \frac{(s - m_{12}^2)^{\frac{d-2}{2}}(s - \bar{m}_{12}^2)^{\frac{d-2}{2}}}{2^d s^{\frac{d-1}{2}}}, \quad (D.9)$$

which is the factor appear in partial-wave expansion of amplitudes eq. (3.73). To show the match, we still use saddle-points of P_i eq. (3.41) but setting p_3, p_4 off-shell in frame eq. (3.47)

$$p_1 = (\omega_1, p\hat{n}), \quad p_2 = (\omega_2, -p\hat{n}), \quad p_3 = (-|\omega_3|, |p_3|\hat{n}'), \quad p_4 = (-|\omega_4|, -|p_4|\hat{n}''), \quad (D.10)$$

where $|\omega_i| = \sqrt{m_i^2 + |p_i|^2}$. Then we find the saddle-points of eq. (D.8) are eq. (D.7) together with

$$|p_3| = |p_4| = p, \quad \hat{n}'' = \hat{n}'.$$
 (D.11)

Include all relevant factors, it is equivalent to momentum conservation delta function.

E Conformal blocks with large Δ and $\Delta_{1,2}$

E.1 From Casimir equation

We consider four-point function expanded in terms of conformal block

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_1 \cdots \mathcal{O}_4 \rangle = \frac{1}{(P_{12}P_{34})^{\frac{\Delta_1 + \Delta_2}{2}}} \left(\frac{P_{24}}{P_{14}}\right)^{\frac{\Delta_{12}}{2}} \left(\frac{P_{14}}{P_{13}}\right)^{\frac{\Delta_{21}}{2}} \sum_{\Delta,J} c_{\Delta,J} G_{\Delta,J} \left(z, \bar{z}\right) \,. \tag{E.1}$$

Acting with Casimir operator yields the Casimir equation [80]

$$\mathcal{D}G_{\Delta,J} = \left(\Delta(\Delta - d) + J(J + d - 2)\right)G_{\Delta,J}, \qquad (E.2)$$

where

$$\mathcal{D} = \mathcal{D}_z + \mathcal{D}_{\bar{z}} + 2(d-2)\frac{z\bar{z}}{z-\bar{z}}((1-z)\partial_z - (1-\bar{z})\partial_{\bar{z}}),$$

$$\mathcal{D}_z = 2(z^2(1-z)\partial_z^2 - (1+a+b)z^2\partial_z - abz).$$
 (E.3)

 (z, \bar{z}) is the usual cross-ratios, and note $a = b = \Delta_{21}/2$. For $\Delta_1 = \Delta_2$ or $\Delta_i \ll \Delta$, the Casimir equation simplifies and easily gives eq. (3.66). For $\Delta_1 \neq \Delta_2$, the term with Δ_{12} is very important. Inspired by eq. (3.49) and (3.51), we now adopt the following conformal frame

$$z = \frac{4m^2w}{(m^2 - m_{12}^2)(1+w)^2}, \quad \bar{z} = \frac{4m^2\bar{w}}{(m^2 - m_{12}^2)(1+\bar{w})^2}, \quad (E.4)$$

where $w = re^{i\theta}$, which is depicted in figure 12. For $m_{12} = 0$, the parameterization eq. (E.4) reduces to the usual radial frame [44]. The Casimir equation eq. (E.2) now reads

$$\mathcal{A}G(r,\eta) + \mathcal{B}_1 \partial_r G(r,\eta) + \mathcal{B}_2 \partial_\eta G(r,\eta) + \mathcal{C}_1 \partial_r^2 G(r,\eta) + \mathcal{C}_2 \partial_\eta^2 G(r,\eta) + \mathcal{C}_3 \partial_r \partial_\eta G(r,\eta) = 0, \quad (E.5)$$



Figure 12. A convenient conformal frame for solving conformal block at $\Delta, \Delta_i \to \infty$. Non-identical operators subject to flat-space saddle-points can also have access to above conformal frame. In general, $\alpha_1 \neq \alpha_2$.

where

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{A} &= (r^2 - 1)(r^2 - 2\eta r + 1)^3((d - 2)J(m_{12} - m)(m + m_{12})(r^2 + 2\eta r + 1)^2 \\ &+ \Delta(-d(m_{12} - m)(m + m_{12})(r^2 + 2\eta r + 1)^2 - m^3\ell(r^2 + 2\eta r + 1)^2) \\ &+ m_{12}^2\Delta(r^4 + (4\eta^2 - 6)r^2 + 1)) + J^2(m_{12} - m)(m + m_{12})(r^2 + 2\eta r + 1)^2) , \end{aligned} \\ \mathcal{B}_1 &= -r(r^2 + 2\eta r + 1)(-m^2(r^2 - 2\eta r + 1)^2(d(r^2 + 1)(r^4 + (2 - 4\eta^2)r^2 + 1)) \\ &+ r^2(r^4 + 4\eta^2(r^2 + 3) - 7r^2 - 9) - 1) + m_{12}^2(r^2 + 2\eta r + 1)(d(r^4 - 2\eta(r^2 + 1)r) \\ &- 6r^2 + 1)(r^2 - 2\eta r + 1)^2 + r(2\eta + r(r^6 + 18r^4 + 8\eta^3(r^2 + 3)r - 16r^2 - 4\eta^2(5r^4 \\ &- 4r^2 + 7) - 2\eta(r^4 + r^2 + 15)r + 30)) - 1) + 8\eta m^2 m_{12}r(r^2 - 1)^2\ell(r^2 - 2\eta r + 1)^2) , \end{aligned} \\ \mathcal{B}_2 &= (1 - r^2)(r^2 + 2\eta r + 1)(\eta(-m^2)(r^2 - 2\eta r + 1)^2(dr^4 - 4(d + 1)\eta^2r^2 + 2dr^2 \\ &+ d - r^4 + 6r^2 - 1) + m_{12}^2(r^2 + 2\eta r + 1)(-8(d + 1)\eta^4r^3 + 4(3d + 1)\eta^3r^2(r^2 + 1)) \\ &+ 2\eta^2r((5 - 3d)r^4 + 2(d - 3)r^2 - 3d + 5) + \eta(r^2 + 1)((d - 1)r^4 - 2(7d + 1)r^2 + d - 1) \\ &+ 4r((d - 2)r^4 + 2(d + 2)r^2 + d - 2)) - 8(\eta^2 - 1)m^2m_{12}r(r^2 + 1)\ell(r^2 - 2\eta r + 1)^2) , \end{aligned} \\ \mathcal{C}_1 &= -r^2(r^2 - 1)(r^2 - 2\eta r + 1)(r^2 + 2\eta r + 1)^2(m_{12}^2(r^4 + (4\eta^2 - 6)r^2 + 1) \\ &- m^2(r^2 - 2\eta r + 1)^2) , \end{aligned} \\ \mathcal{C}_2 &= (\eta^2 - 1)(1 - r^2)(r^2 - 2\eta r + 1)(r^2 + 2\eta r + 1)^2(m_{12}^2(r^4 + (4\eta^2 - 6)r^2 + 1) \\ &- m^2(r^2 - 2\eta r + 1)^2) , \end{aligned}$$

$$\mathcal{C}_3 &= 8\left(\eta^2 - 1\right)m_{12}^2r^2\left(r^2 - 1\right)^2\left(r^2 - 2\eta r + 1\right)\left(r^2 + 2\eta r + 1\right)^2\left(r^2 + 2\eta r + 1\right)^2 . \end{aligned}$$
(E.6)

We denote $\eta = \cos \theta$. The expression looks horrible, but we find it is especially useful to define

$$g_{\Delta,J}(z,\bar{z}) = \left(\frac{P_{24}}{P_{14}}\right)^{\frac{\Delta_{12}}{2}} \left(\frac{P_{14}}{P_{13}}\right)^{\frac{\Delta_{21}}{2}} G_{\Delta,J}(z,\bar{z}) .$$
(E.7)

Then the leading order of Casimir equation is trivially satisfied by scaling $r^{\Delta}f(r,\eta)$ and the sub-leading order of the equation reads

$$r(d((r^{2}+1)^{2}-4\eta^{2}r^{2})+4(\eta^{2}-1)(r^{2}+1))f + (r^{2}-1)(r^{4}+(2-4\eta^{2})r^{2}+1)\partial_{r}f = 0.$$
(E.8)

Finally, we end up with a simple solution (include reasonable normalization)

$$g_{\Delta,J}(r,\theta)|_{\Delta,\Delta_i \to \infty} = \frac{J! N_{\Delta}}{(d-2)_J} \frac{(4r)^{\Delta} C_J^{\frac{d}{2}-1}(\cos\theta)}{(1-r^2)^{\frac{d}{2}-1} \sqrt{(1+r^2)^2 - 4r^2 \cos^2\theta}},$$
 (E.9)

where

$$N_{\Delta} = \frac{\Delta^{2\Delta}}{(\Delta - \Delta_{12})^{\Delta - \Delta_{12}} (\Delta + \Delta_{12})^{\Delta + \Delta_{12}}} \,. \tag{E.10}$$

The expression looks the same as eq. (3.66) up to additional normalization factor, but the definition of (r, θ) is no longer the same, besides, $g_{\Delta,J}$ is defined by including appropriate prefactors. It is also worth noting that here (r, θ) depend on Δ , so when we sum over conformal blocks, we should be careful about addressing conformal block itself. To avoid confusion, we may denote $(r_{\Delta}, \theta_{\Delta})$ in the main text. In the next subsection, we verify our solution by working specifically in d = 2, 4.

E.2 Explicit check in d = 2, 4

In d = 2, 4, the conformal block can be exactly solved [80, 81]

$$d = 2, \qquad G_{\Delta,J} = k_{\Delta+J}^{a,b}(z) \, k_{\Delta-J}^{a,b}(\bar{z}) + k_{\Delta+J}^{a,b}(\bar{z}) \, k_{\Delta-J}^{a,b}(z) , d = 4, \qquad G_{\Delta,J} = \frac{z\bar{z}}{z-\bar{z}} \left(k_{\Delta+J}^{a,b}(z) \, k_{\Delta-J-2}^{a,b}(\bar{z}) - k_{\Delta+J}^{a,b}(\bar{z}) \, k_{\Delta-J-2}^{a,b}(z) \right) , \qquad (E.11)$$

where

$$k_{\beta}^{a,b}(z) = z^{\frac{\beta}{2}} {}_{2}F_{1}\left(a + \frac{\beta}{2}, b + \frac{\beta}{2}, \beta, z\right)$$
(E.12)

We can find $k_{\beta}^{a,a}\left(z\right)|_{\beta,a\to\infty}$ by using the Barnes representation

$${}_{2}F_{1}(a,b,c,z) = \frac{\Gamma(c)}{\Gamma(a)\Gamma(b)} \int_{-i\infty}^{i\infty} \frac{ds}{2\pi i} \frac{\Gamma(a+s)\Gamma(b+s)\Gamma(-s)}{\Gamma(c+s)} (-z)^{s} \,. \tag{E.13}$$

We deform the contour to right and find there is a saddle-point of s

$$s^* = \frac{w\beta(\beta + 2a)}{(1 - w)\beta - 2a(1 + w)}.$$
(E.14)

Then by performing the integral dominated by this saddle-point, we obtain

$$k_{\beta}^{a,a} = \frac{\beta^{\beta}}{\sqrt{1-w}} \left(a + \frac{\beta}{2}\right)^{-2a-\beta} (w+1)^{2a-\frac{1}{2}} w^{\beta/2} (\beta-2a)^{\frac{\beta(\beta-2a)}{2a(w+1)+\beta(w-1)}} (2a+\beta)^{\frac{\beta w(2a+\beta)}{2a(w+1)+\beta(w-1)}} \times \left(\beta^{2}-4a^{2}\right)^{\frac{(w+1)(4a^{2}-\beta^{2})}{2a(w+1)+\beta(w-1)} - \frac{\beta(2a(w-1)+\beta(w+1))}{2\beta(1-w)-4a(w+1)}} (2\beta(1-w)-4a(w+1))^{-2a}$$
(E.15)

This expression looks tough, but it turns out those transcendental factors exactly give rise to the wanted prefactor. Plug eq. (E.15) in eq. (E.11) and absorb the prefactors, we find

$$d = 2, \qquad g_{\Delta,J} = N_{\Delta} \frac{(4r)^{\Delta}}{\sqrt{1 + r^2 - 2r^2 \cos(2\theta)}} \times 2\cos(J\theta) ,$$

$$d = 4, \qquad g_{\Delta,J} = N_{\Delta} \frac{(4r)^{\Delta}}{(1 - r^2)\sqrt{1 + r^2 - 2r^2 \cos(2\theta)}} \times \frac{\sin((J + 1)\theta)}{\sin\theta} , \qquad (E.16)$$

which precisely match with the general result eq. (E.9).

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- J.M. Maldacena, The large N limit of superconformal field theories and supergravity, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 231 [hep-th/9711200] [INSPIRE].
- [2] E. Witten, Anti-de Sitter space and holography, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 253 [hep-th/9802150] [INSPIRE].
- S.S. Gubser, I.R. Klebanov and A.M. Polyakov, Gauge theory correlators from noncritical string theory, Phys. Lett. B 428 (1998) 105 [hep-th/9802109] [INSPIRE].
- [4] A. Bagchi, R. Basu, A. Kakkar and A. Mehra, Flat Holography: Aspects of the dual field theory, JHEP 12 (2016) 147 [arXiv:1609.06203] [INSPIRE].
- [5] J. Polchinski, S matrices from AdS space-time, hep-th/9901076 [INSPIRE].
- [6] S.B. Giddings, Flat space scattering and bulk locality in the AdS/CFT correspondence, Phys. Rev. D 61 (2000) 106008 [hep-th/9907129] [INSPIRE].
- [7] M. Gary, S.B. Giddings and J. Penedones, Local bulk S-matrix elements and CFT singularities, Phys. Rev. D 80 (2009) 085005 [arXiv:0903.4437] [INSPIRE].
- [8] M. Gary and S.B. Giddings, The flat space S-matrix from the AdS/CFT correspondence?, Phys. Rev. D 80 (2009) 046008 [arXiv:0904.3544] [INSPIRE].
- [9] I. Heemskerk, J. Penedones, J. Polchinski and J. Sully, Holography from Conformal Field Theory, JHEP 10 (2009) 079 [arXiv:0907.0151] [INSPIRE].
- [10] A.L. Fitzpatrick, E. Katz, D. Poland and D. Simmons-Duffin, *Effective Conformal Theory* and the Flat-Space Limit of AdS, JHEP 07 (2011) 023 [arXiv:1007.2412] [INSPIRE].
- [11] A.L. Fitzpatrick and J. Kaplan, Scattering States in AdS/CFT, arXiv:1104.2597 [INSPIRE].
- [12] T. Okuda and J. Penedones, String scattering in flat space and a scaling limit of Yang-Mills correlators, Phys. Rev. D 83 (2011) 086001 [arXiv:1002.2641] [INSPIRE].
- [13] J. Penedones, Writing CFT correlation functions as AdS scattering amplitudes, JHEP 03 (2011) 025 [arXiv:1011.1485] [INSPIRE].
- [14] A.L. Fitzpatrick and J. Kaplan, Analyticity and the Holographic S-matrix, JHEP 10 (2012)
 127 [arXiv:1111.6972] [INSPIRE].

- [15] J. Maldacena, D. Simmons-Duffin and A. Zhiboedov, Looking for a bulk point, JHEP 01 (2017) 013 [arXiv:1509.03612] [INSPIRE].
- [16] S. Komatsu, M.F. Paulos, B.C. Van Rees and X. Zhao, Landau diagrams in AdS and S-matrices from conformal correlators, JHEP 11 (2020) 046 [arXiv:2007.13745] [INSPIRE].
- [17] M.F. Paulos, J. Penedones, J. Toledo, B.C. van Rees and P. Vieira, The S-matrix bootstrap. Part I: QFT in AdS, JHEP 11 (2017) 133 [arXiv:1607.06109] [INSPIRE].
- [18] S. Raju, New Recursion Relations and a Flat Space Limit for AdS/CFT Correlators, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 126009 [arXiv:1201.6449] [INSPIRE].
- [19] S. Caron-Huot, D. Mazac, L. Rastelli and D. Simmons-Duffin, *Dispersive CFT Sum Rules*, *JHEP* 05 (2021) 243 [arXiv:2008.04931] [INSPIRE].
- [20] A. Hamilton, D.N. Kabat, G. Lifschytz and D.A. Lowe, Local bulk operators in AdS/CFT: A boundary view of horizons and locality, Phys. Rev. D 73 (2006) 086003 [hep-th/0506118] [INSPIRE].
- [21] A. Hamilton, D.N. Kabat, G. Lifschytz and D.A. Lowe, Holographic representation of local bulk operators, Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 066009 [hep-th/0606141] [INSPIRE].
- [22] E. Hijano, Flat space physics from AdS/CFT, JHEP 07 (2019) 132 [arXiv:1905.02729]
 [INSPIRE].
- [23] R. Bousso, S. Leichenauer and V. Rosenhaus, Light-sheets and AdS/CFT, Phys. Rev. D 86 (2012) 046009 [arXiv:1203.6619] [INSPIRE].
- [24] B. Czech, J.L. Karczmarek, F. Nogueira and M. Van Raamsdonk, The Gravity Dual of a Density Matrix, Class. Quant. Grav. 29 (2012) 155009 [arXiv:1204.1330] [INSPIRE].
- [25] R. Bousso, B. Freivogel, S. Leichenauer, V. Rosenhaus and C. Zukowski, Null Geodesics, Local CFT Operators and AdS/CFT for Subregions, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 064057
 [arXiv:1209.4641] [INSPIRE].
- [26] D. Harlow, The Ryu-Takayanagi Formula from Quantum Error Correction, Commun. Math. Phys. 354 (2017) 865 [arXiv:1607.03901] [INSPIRE].
- [27] L.F. Alday and X. Zhou, Simplicity of AdS Supergravity at One Loop, JHEP **09** (2020) 008 [arXiv:1912.02663] [INSPIRE].
- [28] L.F. Alday and X. Zhou, All Tree-Level Correlators for M-theory on $AdS_7 \times S^4$, Phys. Rev. Lett. **125** (2020) 131604 [arXiv:2006.06653] [INSPIRE].
- [29] F. Aprile, J.M. Drummond, H. Paul and M. Santagata, The Virasoro-Shapiro amplitude in $AdS_5 \times S^5$ and level splitting of 10d conformal symmetry, arXiv:2012.12092 [INSPIRE].
- [30] L.F. Alday, C. Behan, P. Ferrero and X. Zhou, Gluon Scattering in AdS from CFT, JHEP 06 (2021) 020 [arXiv:2103.15830] [INSPIRE].
- [31] F. Aprile and P. Vieira, Large p explorations. From SUGRA to big STRINGS in Mellin space, JHEP 12 (2020) 206 [arXiv:2007.09176] [INSPIRE].
- [32] C. Wen and S.-Q. Zhang, Notes on gravity multiplet correlators in $AdS_3 \times S^3$, arXiv:2106.03499 [INSPIRE].
- [33] T. Abl, P. Heslop and A.E. Lipstein, Towards the Virasoro-Shapiro amplitude in $AdS_5 \times S^5$, JHEP 04 (2021) 237 [arXiv:2012.12091] [INSPIRE].

- [34] S. Caron-Huot and Y.-Z. Li, *Helicity basis for three-dimensional conformal field theory*, arXiv:2102.08160 [INSPIRE].
- [35] C. Cardona, Correlation functions at the bulk point singularity from the gravitational eikonal S-matrix, JHEP 11 (2019) 044 [arXiv:1906.08734] [INSPIRE].
- [36] L.F. Alday and S. Caron-Huot, Gravitational S-matrix from CFT dispersion relations, JHEP 12 (2018) 017 [arXiv:1711.02031] [INSPIRE].
- [37] G. Mack, D-independent representation of Conformal Field Theories in D dimensions via transformation to auxiliary Dual Resonance Models. Scalar amplitudes, arXiv:0907.2407 [INSPIRE].
- [38] G. Mack, D-dimensional Conformal Field Theories with anomalous dimensions as Dual Resonance Models, Bulg. J. Phys. 36 (2009) 214 [arXiv:0909.1024] [INSPIRE].
- [39] A.L. Fitzpatrick, J. Kaplan, J. Penedones, S. Raju and B.C. van Rees, A Natural Language for AdS/CFT Correlators, JHEP 11 (2011) 095 [arXiv:1107.1499] [INSPIRE].
- [40] J. Penedones, J.A. Silva and A. Zhiboedov, Nonperturbative Mellin Amplitudes: Existence, Properties, Applications, JHEP 08 (2020) 031 [arXiv:1912.11100] [INSPIRE].
- [41] M.S. Costa, J. Penedones, D. Poland and S. Rychkov, Spinning Conformal Correlators, JHEP 11 (2011) 071 [arXiv:1107.3554] [INSPIRE].
- [42] S. Caron-Huot, D. Mazac, L. Rastelli and D. Simmons-Duffin, AdS Bulk Locality from Sharp CFT Bounds, arXiv:2106.10274 [INSPIRE].
- [43] P. Kravchuk, J. Qiao and S. Rychkov, Distributions in CFT. Part II. Minkowski space, JHEP 08 (2021) 094 [arXiv:2104.02090] [INSPIRE].
- [44] M. Hogervorst and S. Rychkov, Radial Coordinates for Conformal Blocks, Phys. Rev. D 87 (2013) 106004 [arXiv:1303.1111] [INSPIRE].
- [45] A.L. Fitzpatrick and J. Kaplan, Unitarity and the Holographic S-matrix, JHEP 10 (2012)
 032 [arXiv:1112.4845] [INSPIRE].
- [46] F. Kos, D. Poland and D. Simmons-Duffin, Bootstrapping the O(N) vector models, JHEP 06 (2014) 091 [arXiv:1307.6856] [INSPIRE].
- [47] A. May, G. Penington and J. Sorce, Holographic scattering requires a connected entanglement wedge, JHEP 08 (2020) 132 [arXiv:1912.05649] [INSPIRE].
- [48] D. Simmons-Duffin, The Conformal Bootstrap, in Theoretical Advanced Study Institute in Elementary Particle Physics: New Frontiers in Fields and Strings, pp. 1–7 (2017), DOI [arXiv:1602.07982] [INSPIRE].
- [49] V.K. Dobrev, V.B. Petkova, S.G. Petrova and I.T. Todorov, Dynamical Derivation of Vacuum Operator Product Expansion in Euclidean Conformal Quantum Field Theory, Phys. Rev. D 13 (1976) 887 [INSPIRE].
- [50] P. Kravchuk and D. Simmons-Duffin, Counting Conformal Correlators, JHEP 02 (2018) 096 [arXiv:1612.08987] [INSPIRE].
- [51] S. Chakraborty, S.D. Chowdhury, T. Gopalka, S. Kundu, S. Minwalla and A. Mishra, *Classification of all 3 particle S-matrices quadratic in photons or gravitons*, *JHEP* 04 (2020) 110 [arXiv:2001.07117] [INSPIRE].
- [52] S. Caron-Huot, Analyticity in Spin in Conformal Theories, JHEP 09 (2017) 078 [arXiv:1703.00278] [INSPIRE].

- [53] D. Simmons-Duffin, D. Stanford and E. Witten, A spacetime derivation of the Lorentzian OPE inversion formula, JHEP 07 (2018) 085 [arXiv:1711.03816] [INSPIRE].
- [54] M. Correia, A. Sever and A. Zhiboedov, An Analytical Toolkit for the S-matrix Bootstrap, arXiv:2006.08221 [INSPIRE].
- [55] D. Carmi and S. Caron-Huot, A Conformal Dispersion Relation: Correlations from Absorption, JHEP 09 (2020) 009 [arXiv:1910.12123] [INSPIRE].
- [56] D. Meltzer, E. Perlmutter and A. Sivaramakrishnan, Unitarity Methods in AdS/CFT, JHEP 03 (2020) 061 [arXiv:1912.09521] [INSPIRE].
- [57] D. Meltzer and A. Sivaramakrishnan, CFT unitarity and the AdS Cutkosky rules, JHEP 11 (2020) 073 [arXiv:2008.11730] [INSPIRE].
- [58] D. Meltzer, Dispersion Formulas in QFTs, CFTs, and Holography, JHEP 05 (2021) 098
 [arXiv:2103.15839] [INSPIRE].
- [59] D. Ponomarev, From bulk loops to boundary large-N expansion, JHEP 01 (2020) 154 [arXiv:1908.03974] [INSPIRE].
- [60] X.Z.B.C. Van Rees, Flar-space limit of Non-perturbative Conformal Correlators, to appear.
- [61] L. Cornalba, M.S. Costa, J. Penedones and R. Schiappa, Eikonal Approximation in AdS/CFT: From Shock Waves to Four-Point Functions, JHEP 08 (2007) 019
 [hep-th/0611122] [INSPIRE].
- [62] M.S. Costa, V. Goncalves and J. Penedones, Conformal Regge theory, JHEP 12 (2012) 091 [arXiv:1209.4355] [INSPIRE].
- [63] A. Antunes, M.S. Costa, T. Hansen, A. Salgarkar and S. Sarkar, The perturbative CFT optical theorem and high-energy string scattering in AdS at one loop, JHEP 04 (2021) 088 [arXiv:2012.01515] [INSPIRE].
- [64] X.O. Camanho, J.D. Edelstein, J. Maldacena and A. Zhiboedov, Causality Constraints on Corrections to the Graviton Three-Point Coupling, JHEP 02 (2016) 020 [arXiv:1407.5597]
 [INSPIRE].
- [65] S. Kundu, Swampland Conditions for Higher Derivative Couplings from CFT, arXiv:2104.11238 [INSPIRE].
- [66] S. Caron-Huot and V. Van Duong, Extremal Effective Field Theories, JHEP 05 (2021) 280 [arXiv:2011.02957] [INSPIRE].
- [67] S. Caron-Huot, D. Mazac, L. Rastelli and D. Simmons-Duffin, *Sharp Boundaries for the Swampland*, arXiv:2102.08951 [INSPIRE].
- [68] E. Hijano and D. Neuenfeld, Soft photon theorems from CFT Ward identities in the flat limit of AdS/CFT, JHEP 11 (2020) 009 [arXiv:2005.03667] [INSPIRE].
- [69] D. Chandorkar, S.D. Chowdhury, S. Kundu and S. Minwalla, *Bounds on Regge growth of flat* space scattering from bounds on chaos, *JHEP* **05** (2021) 143 [arXiv:2102.03122] [INSPIRE].
- [70] H. Kawai, D.C. Lewellen and S.H.H. Tye, A Relation Between Tree Amplitudes of Closed and Open Strings, Nucl. Phys. B 269 (1986) 1 [INSPIRE].
- [71] Z. Bern, J.J.M. Carrasco and H. Johansson, New Relations for Gauge-Theory Amplitudes, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 085011 [arXiv:0805.3993] [INSPIRE].

- [72] C. Armstrong, A.E. Lipstein and J. Mei, Color/kinematics duality in AdS₄, JHEP 02 (2021)
 194 [arXiv:2012.02059] [INSPIRE].
- [73] S. Albayrak, S. Kharel and D. Meltzer, On duality of color and kinematics in (A)dS momentum space, JHEP 03 (2021) 249 [arXiv:2012.10460] [INSPIRE].
- [74] S. Jain, R.R. John, A. Mehta, A.A. Nizami and A. Suresh, *Momentum space parity-odd CFT* 3-point functions, arXiv:2101.11635 [INSPIRE].
- [75] S. Jain, R.R. John, A. Mehta, A.A. Nizami and A. Suresh, Double copy structure of parity-violating CFT correlators, JHEP 07 (2021) 033 [arXiv:2104.12803] [INSPIRE].
- [76] S. Pasterski, S.-H. Shao and A. Strominger, Gluon Amplitudes as 2d Conformal Correlators, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 085006 [arXiv:1706.03917] [INSPIRE].
- [77] H.T. Lam and S.-H. Shao, Conformal Basis, Optical Theorem, and the Bulk Point Singularity, Phys. Rev. D 98 (2018) 025020 [arXiv:1711.06138] [INSPIRE].
- [78] P. Kravchuk and D. Simmons-Duffin, Light-ray operators in conformal field theory, JHEP 11 (2018) 102 [arXiv:1805.00098] [INSPIRE].
- [79] E. D'Hoker, D.Z. Freedman, S.D. Mathur, A. Matusis and L. Rastelli, Graviton exchange and complete four point functions in the AdS/CFT correspondence, Nucl. Phys. B 562 (1999) 353 [hep-th/9903196] [INSPIRE].
- [80] F.A. Dolan and H. Osborn, Conformal partial waves and the operator product expansion, Nucl. Phys. B 678 (2004) 491 [hep-th/0309180] [INSPIRE].
- [81] F.A. Dolan and H. Osborn, Conformal four point functions and the operator product expansion, Nucl. Phys. B 599 (2001) 459 [hep-th/0011040] [INSPIRE].